The Health Consequences of Persistent Overqualification Among Immigrants in Canada

by

Takuya Shibayama

A thesis

presented to the University of Waterloo

in fulfilment of the

thesis requirement for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Public Health Sciences

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2023

© Takuya Shibayama 2023

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

ABSTRACT

Background: Canada's immigration system prioritizes the admission of highly educated immigrants. Notwithstanding, skilled immigrants often struggle to integrate into the labour force. A considerable body of evidence shows that immigrants are more likely to be overqualified for their jobs compared to their non-immigrant counterparts. The over-representation of immigrants among the overqualified is problematic, as overqualification is associated with poor mental health. Moreover, cross-sectional research suggests that the negative mental health impact of overqualification might be more severe for immigrants than non-immigrants. This study seeks to further investigate the relationship between well-being, overqualification, and immigration status using longitudinal methods.

Methods: This study used data from the Longitudinal and International Study of Adults (LISA), which is a nationally representative survey administered by Statistics Canada. Linear mixed models were used to analyze the affect of overqualification on mental health and life satisfaction trajectories. Mental health was measured via the Kessler 10 Psychological Distress Scale and life satisfaction was measured via a face-valid, one-item measure. To assess if overqualification and well-being (i.e., mental health and life satisfaction) is moderated by immigration status, a three-way interaction term was included in the model. Post-estimation analyses were conducted to unpack significant interaction effects.

Results: Both overqualified immigrants and non-immigrants experienced a significant rise in psychological distress over a four-year period. The negative psychological impact of overqualification was comparable between immigrant and non-immigrant groups. In general, psychological distress scores did not rise above clinically meaningful levels. With respect to life satisfaction, overqualified immigrants experienced an increase over time, whereas overqualified non-immigrants did not.

Conclusion: Overqualification is perceived as an unpleasant experience by both immigrants and non-immigrants alike. Further research investigating longer time trends are necessary to form further conclusions about the relationship between overqualification and mental health. The rise in life satisfaction among overqualified immigrants is similar to findings from past research. Although speculation, such an increase in well-being may be attributable to response shift. Response shift refers to a change in how individuals appraise their satisfaction with life. Life satisfaction may increase among overqualified individuals when other life-domains such as family and relationships become more emphasized or valued over career-related achievements.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foremost, this endeavor would not have been possible without the loving support of my parents to whom I owe so much. Thank you for your continual encouragement, which has helped me to persevere through many and varied challenges. I would not be here without you today.

I would also like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Martin Cooke, for his invaluable support throughout the research/writing process. Dr. Cooke, thank you also for your advice on non-academic matters for they have always guided me in the right direction. I am also grateful for my committee members, Dr. Warren Dodd, and Dr. Joel Dubin, who both provided me with much needed insight as I completed this work. Last but not least, a special thanks to my friend, Konstantyn Sharpinskyi, who taught me R in my last year of undergraduate studies and sparked my interest in statistics.

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION	II
ABSTRACT	III
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	IV
LIST OF FIGURES	VII
LIST OF TABLES	VIII
INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND	6
Prevalence of Overqualification	8
Overqualification Among Immigrants	9
OVERQUALIFICATION, PSYCHOLOGICAL HEALTH, & LIFE SATISFACTION	12
THEORETICAL FRAMEWORKS	18
EFFORT-REWARD IMBALANCE MODEL (SOCIAL EXCHANGE)	
GOAL-STRIVING STRESS	19
RELATIVE DEPRIVATION	20
Person-environment fit	22
SUMMARY OF THEORIES	23
STUDY AIMS AND RATIONALE	25
METHODS	27
Data Source	
Dependent Variables	29
INDEPENDENT VARIABLES	30
CONTROL VARIABLES	33
ANALYITCAL PROCEDURE	35
Model A: Overqualification, Immigration Status & Mental Health	
Model B: Overqualification, Immigration Status & Life Satisfaction	39
MODEL C: OVERQUALIFICATION, IMMIGRATION RECENCY & MENTAL HEALTH	39
MODEL D: OVERQUALIFICATION, IMMIGRATION CATEGORY & MENTAL HEALTH	40
Model E & Model F	40
RESULTS	41
Model A: Overqualification and Mental Health	42
Model B: Overqualification and Life Satisfaction	48
Model C: Mental Health and Immigration Recency	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

MODEL E: LIFE SATISFACTION AND IMMIGRATION RECENCY	59
Model F: Life Satisfaction and Immigration Category	62
DISCUSSION	64
LIMITATIONS	71
CONCLUSION	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A: DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS	95
APPENDIX B: INFERENTIAL STATISTICS	99
APPENDIX C: CODING OF OVERQUALIFICATION	115

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Model A. Interaction between overqualification and time. Psychological distress level	els
increase at a greater rate for overqualified individuals	. 48
Figure 2. Model B. Interaction between immigration status and time for the overqualified sub)-
sample	. 54
Figure 3. Model B. Interaction between immigration status and time for the marginally	
overqualified sub-sample.	. 55
Figure 4. Model B. Interaction between immigration status and time for the qualified sub-	
sample	. 55
Figure 5. Model D. Interaction between immigration category and overqualification	. 57
Figure 6. Model E. Interaction between immigration recency and time	. 60
Figure 7. Model F. Interaction between immigration category and time	. 63

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Unconditional Means Model (Model A – K10)	43
Table 1.2 Unconditional Growth Model (Model A – K10)	44
Table 1.3 Linear Mixed Model with Three-Way Interaction Removed (Model A – K10)	45
Table 1.4 Analysis of Simple Slopes (Model A – K10)	47
Table 1.5 Analysis of Simple Effects (Model A – K10)	48
Table 2.1 Unconditional Means Model (Model B – Life Satisfaction)	49
Table 2.2 Unconditional Growth Model (Model B – Life Satisfaction)	50
Table 2.3 Linear Mixed Model Results (Model B – Life Satisfaction)	52
Table 2.4 Analysis of Simple Slopes on Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model B – Life Satisfac	tion) 53
Table 2.5 Analysis of Simple Effects on Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model B – Life Satisfac	tion)53
Table 3.1 Linear Mixed Model with Immigration Category (Model D – K10)	58
Table 3.1 Continued	59
Table 4.1 Linear Mixed Model with immigration Recency (Model E – Life Satisfaction)	61
Table A1 Weighted Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Variables (Overall Sample)	95
Table A2 Weighted Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Variables (Sub-Sample)	95
Table A3 Weighted Frequency and Proportions for Categorical Variables (Overall Sample)) 96
Table A4 Weighted Frequency and Proportions for Categorical Variables (Non-immigrant	s) 97
Table A5 Weighted Frequency and Proportions for Categorical Variables (Immigrants)	98
Table B1 K10 Linear mixed model with three-way interaction (Model A)	
Table B2 Stratified Analysis with Overqualified Sub-sample (Model B)	101
Table B3 K10 Linear mixed model for immigration recency with three way interaction (M	odel C) 102
Table B4 Linear Mixed Model for Immigration Recency with Three-Way Interaction Remo	oved
(Model C)	103
Table B5 Linear Mixed Model for Immigration Category with Three-way Interaction (Mod	lel D) 104
Table B6 Analysis of Simple Effects (Model D)	106
Table B7 Analysis of Simple Effects 2 (Model D)	106
Table B8 Linear Mixed Model for Immigration Recency with Three-Way Interaction (Mod	el E)
Table B9 Analysis of Simple Slopes (Model E)	107
Table B10 Analysis of Simples Effects (Model E)	108
Table B11 Linear Mixed Model with Immigration Category (Model F)	109
Table B12 Linear Mixed Model for Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)	111
Table B13 Analysis of Simple Slopes for Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)	112

Table B14 Analysis of Simple Slopes 2 for Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)	112
Table B15 Analysis of Simple Effects for Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)	112
Table B16 Linear Mixed Model for Marginally Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)	113
Table B17 Linear Mixed Model for Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)	114

Table C1: NOC 2011 – Skill Category Codes	115
Table C2: LISA Answer Categories for Highest Level of Attained Education	116
Table C3: Classifying Education-Occupation Mismatch	116

INTRODUCTION

Canada is aptly described as a nation of immigrants. Between 2015 and 2019, Canada welcomed over 300 000 immigrants each year (Statistics Canada, 2019). Although immigration levels fell in 2020 due to the COVID pandemic, Canada admitted roughly 400 000 immigrants in 2021, and 437 000 immigrants in 2022 (Immigration, Refugees, and Citizenship Canada, 2021; Statistics Canada, 2023c). Fueled by concerns over the ageing labour force and low birth rate (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2022a), Canada further plans to receive over 1.45 million new immigrants between 2023 and 2025 (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2022b). The total fertility rate to maintain any population without immigration is 2.1 births per woman (Statistics Canada, 2022a). In 2015, Canada's total period fertility rate was 1.51, which further decreased to 1.33 in 2022 (Statistics Canada, 2023a). Remarkably, some experts predict that by 2030, Canada's population growth will depend solely on the influx of immigrants (Statistics Canada, 2016).

From an economic perspective, approximately 25% of the Canadian labour force are immigrants, with many being self-employed creating job opportunities for hundreds of thousands of Canadians (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2020b). Furthermore, immigration heavily contributes to sustaining the Canadian labour force, as the working-age population is quickly ageing (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2023). Some estimates suggest that five million Canadians will retire between 2020 and 2030, lowering the worker to retiree ratio from 4:1 to 3:1 (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2023). Needless to state, Canada's immigration system is expected to play an important function in supporting national welfare and economic stability in the forthcoming decades.

Historically, Canada was not always welcoming of immigrants. For much of the 19th and 20th century, Canada's immigration policy favoured the admission of Europeans over individuals who would be considered visible minorities (Taylor, 1991). Indeed, "until 1962 the process of immigration control in Canada was explicitly racist" (Satzewich, 1989, p. 78), and it blatantly interfered with the immigration of non-white persons (Taylor, 1991). For instance, the enactment of the *Chinese Immigration Act* in 1885, subjected Chinese immigrants to pay a \$50 head tax when entering Canada (Holland, 2007). This tax was increased to \$500 in 1904, culminating in the total ban of Chinese immigrants in 1923, which would last until 1947 (Holland, 2007; Taylor, 1991). Although not to the same extent, immigration from other parts of Asia (e.g., India, Japan), Africa, and South and Central America were similarly constrained (Taylor, 1991).

It was not until 1962 that Canada would begin to embrace a multicultural immigration framework and remove the discriminatory elements from their migration policies (Taylor, 1991). In 1967, the government adopted a points-based selection paradigm that would favour immigration candidates with higher levels of education and job-ready skills (Taylor, 1991; Troper, 1993). This new points-based procedure slowly supplanted the older system that selected individuals based on race (Taylor, 1991; Troper, 1993). The rationale for this shift was to fix Canada's image by removing the outdated and draconian immigration laws that violated the code of human rights (Troper, 1993).

Furthermore, there was much debate in the 70's concerning the role of immigration in supporting both population and economic growth (Troper, 1993). In public discourse, many Canadians argued that immigrants would steal jobs from Canadian-born citizens and

denounced plans of increasing immigration (Troper, 1993). However, Canada's birth rate was on the decline and during the economic recession of 1990 – 92, legislative changes were introduced that increased the admittance rate of entrepreneurs and single immigrant candidates over refugees and family reunification applicants (Troper, 1993).

In the 21st century, similar concerns over economic sustainability continues to support immigration policies that favour the reception of highly educated immigrants (McMullin et al., 2004). In 2019, the proportion of economic immigrants was 58% (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2020b). Canada aims to further increase this proportion to 60% by 2024, while slightly decreasing the proportion of refugees and protected persons coming into Canada (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2022b, 2022c). Notably, a large percentage of economic immigrants are university-educated (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2020a), as holding a post-secondary credential greatly heightens one's probability of being accepted under the points system. In 2017, 2018, and 2019, more than 90% of invitations to apply for permanent residency within the Express Entry programs were offered to university degree holders (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2020a).

Generally, highly educated immigrants have better socio-economic outcomes compared to their less educated counterparts, as they have an easier time integrating into the labour market (Picot et al., 2023). However, recent findings have illustrated that university educated immigrants endure abiding financial disadvantages if they are unable to secure employment soon after their arrival (Picot et al., 2023). University educated immigrants who are unsuccessful in securing employment within the first two years of landing, proceed to earn less income than those with a secondary education for the next seven years (Picot et al., 2023).

Furthermore, immigrants are more likely than their non-immigrant counterparts to be overqualified for their jobs, that is, possess educational credentials beyond occupational requirements (Cornelissen & Turcotte, 2020). According to census data on university graduates, 10.1% and 3.6% of immigrant and non-immigrant workers, respectively, experienced persistent overqualification between 2006 and 2016 (Cornelissen & Turcotte, 2020). In other words, immigrants were three times more likely than their Canadian born counterparts to experience prolonged bouts of overqualification (Cornelissen & Turcotte, 2020).

The over-representation of immigrants among the overqualified may be problematic as emerging evidence indicate that overqualification is associated with indicators of poor wellbeing (Mawani, 2018; Smith & Frank, 2005). Many immigrants feel discouraged and unsatisfied when their educational qualifications are considered irrelevant.

[My job] is not [in] my field so I don't feel like I am happy with this job... I was working before and getting a lot of money, and I don't know why I come to this country. (Dean & Wilson, 2009, p. 194)

And I was working under high school graduates you know... They were my supervisors and managers on all the previous jobs that I had done ... that was actually very, very discouraging. (George et al., 2012, p. 415)

Some recent findings also suggest that the negative health impact of overqualification may be greater for immigrants than non-immigrant citizens (Mawani, 2018).

The majority of studies on the health impact of overqualification in immigrant and nonimmigrant populations have been qualitative or cross-sectional in nature (Cornelissen &

Turcotte, 2020). Such studies have contributed greatly to elucidate the relationship between overqualification and health; however, they cannot assess the long-term health consequences of prolonged overqualification. To date, the few longitudinal studies that have been conducted on this topic focused on analysing the general population (i.e., immigrants and non-immigrants together) or sub-populations (i.e., immigrants) in isolation (e.g., Chen et al., 2010; Smith & Frank, 2005). To my knowledge, a longitudinal study *comparing* the health impact of overqualification between immigrant and non-immigrant populations has never been conducted. Accordingly, this study uses the Longitudinal and International Study of Adults (LISA) to study the relationship between overqualification, well-being, and immigration status over a four-year period.

BACKGROUND

The "Healthy Immigrant Effect" is a well-researched phenomenon, and describes the observation that immigrants have a health advantage over than the native born (Vang et al., 2017). Canadian research has found that recent immigrants have lower odds of being diagnosed with anxiety disorders compared to their non-immigrant counterparts (Aglipay et al., 2013; Betancourt, 2010; Menezes et al., 2011). Mood and substance-use disorders are also believed to be lower among the immigrant population (Menezes et al., 2011). Furthermore, immigrants in Canada may have better physical health compared to non-immigrants. Prior findings show that immigrants fare better than non-immigrants with respect to various health outcomes including asthma (Betancourt, 2010; Newbold & Danforth, 2003), obesity, (Betancourt, 2010), and cancer (Betancourt, 2010; McDermott et al., 2011). As evidence for the Healthy Immigrant Effect can be found in various countries (e.g., Canada, United States, and Australia), it is regarded as a well substantiated effect (Vang et al., 2017).

Notably, the Healthy Immigrant Effect appears to disappear over time (Betancourt, 2010; Newbold & Danforth, 2003; Vang et al., 2017). In other words, health decline is associated with a longer stay in the host nation. Betancourt (2011) reports that immigrants who had resided in Canada for less than 5 years were 1.6 times less likely to be obese or overweight compared to the non-immigrant population; however, more established immigrants were only 1.2 times less likely to be obese or overweight. The same report also stated that the prevalence of hypertension was greater among non-immigrants compared to recent immigrants. On the other hand, there was no difference in the prevalence of hypertension among established immigrants and non-immigrant Canadians (Betancourt, 2010). The same conclusion was

reached by Newbold and Danforth (2003) – they observed that established immigrants with more than 10 years of Canadian residency had greater prevalence of arthritis, hypertension, and diabetes compared to both recent immigrants and non-immigrants. A more recent study also concluded that established immigrants have poorer well-being compared to recent arrivals (Kwak, 2018). Admittedly, some of the above mentioned evidence is more than a decade old. However, to my knowledge, contemporary studies on the decline of the Healthy Immigrant Effect are few.

The reasons behind the health decline of immigrants are undoubtedly multi-faceted, some evidence suggests that problems with labour force integration may be related (Lou & Beaujot, 2005). A prevalent issue among immigrants in the Canadian labour force is overqualification. Overqualification describes a form of underemployment characterized by the mismatch between one's educational qualifications and occupational settings (Frank & Hou, 2018). For example, an individual with a university degree or a college diploma working in occupations only requiring a secondary school education would be considered overqualified. Researchers delineate the concept of overqualification into two categories: 1) marginal overqualification and 2) overqualification (Frank & Hou, 2018; Hou et al., 2020; Lu & Hou, 2020). Marginal overqualification refers to university degree holders employed "in occupations that require some post-secondary education but not a university degrees" (Frank & Hou, 2018, p. 891); overqualification refers to individuals holding university degrees employed in occupations in which only secondary education is required (Frank & Hou, 2018).

Other forms of underemployment include low-wage employment and involuntary parttime contracts (Dooley, 2003). Low-wage employment refers to individuals that are working full

time hours but earn an income near the poverty threshold (Dooley, 2003); involuntary parttime employment describes individuals who work part-time that wish to find full time work (Dooley, 2003). Although various forms of underemployment is associated with negative health effects (Dooley et al., 2000), the current investigation limits its focus to overqualification.

Prevalence of Overqualification

In many countries, the prevalence of overqualification is on the rise (F. Green & Henseke, 2016; Livingstone, 2019). Findings from prior research suggest that overqualification has been increasing in the Canadian labour market for decades. Utilizing five separate national surveys administered between 1982 and 2016, Livingstone examined Canadian Labour market trends pertaining to overqualification (Livingstone, 2019). Livingstone found that the proportion of overqualified workers had grown from 24% in 1982 to 39% in 2016. Canada also appears to have one of the highest proportions of overqualified workers, behind only Japan and the Czech Republic among the OCED countries (F. Green & Henseke, 2016).

Several explanations have been posited regarding the causes of overqualification. Firstly, there is much evidence to support the idea that declines in economic activity (i.e., recessions) increase the prevalence of overqualified workers. For example, Khattab and Fox (2016) examined pre- and post-recession changes in employment status and found that the odds of being overqualified was greater post-recession. Specifically, the odds of overqualification were 1.21 times higher post-recession for the general British population (Khattab & Fox, 2016). Interestingly, the odds of post-recession overqualification were moderated by immigration status. Eastern European immigrants had significantly greater odds (OR = 2.17) of being overqualified compared to their non-immigrant, British counterparts. (Khattab & Fox, 2016). Other studies have revealed that the prevalence of overqualification is higher among individuals who completed their university education during a recession (Liu et al., 2016; Summerfield & Theodossiou, 2017; Verhaest & van der Velden, 2013).

Other scholars assert that discrepancies between the supply and demand of educated persons lead to increases in overqualification (Livingstone, 2019; Vaisey, 2006). The rate of post-secondary educational attainment has steadily increased from the 1980s in both Canada and the United States (Livingstone, 2019; Vaisey, 2006). Some estimates suggest that approximately 25% of Canadian labour force participants were post-secondary degree holders in 1982; by 2016, the same figure had jumped to 68% (Livingstone, 2019). Hou and colleagues reported similar findings: between 2001 and 2016, a 66% increase was observed in the number of university degree holders in Canada (Hou et al., 2020). The concomitant rise in the proportion of overgualified workers during the same time period (Livingstone, 2019) suggests that Canada may have an oversupply of highly educated persons relative to demand (Hou et al., 2020). Lastly, at the individual level, overqualification can be the result of personal choice (Maltarich et al., 2011). Fifteen reasons have been identified regarding the decision to seek voluntary overqualification (Newland, 2017). Some of these motives include pursuing a better work-life balance, less occupational stress, changing fields of work, and raising children or spending time with family (Newland, 2017).

Overqualification Among Immigrants

Notably, being an immigrant appears to significantly increase the risk of overqualification (Statistics Canada, 2014). The prevalence of overqualification has been found to be greater among immigrant populations in Canada (Smith & Frank, 2005), as well as a

plethora of other countries, including Australia (C. Green et al., 2007), Britain (Battu & Sloane, 2002), Denmark (Nielsen, 2007), Sweden (Dunlavy et al., 2016), Spain (Sanromá et al., 2015), and the United States (Beckhusen et al., 2013). In the Canadian context, some evidence suggests that the overqualification rate among immigrants began to rise during the 1990s. To illustrate, Frenette and Morissette investigated the earnings disparity between recent immigrants and Canadian-born citizens between 1980 and 2000 (Frenette & Morissette, 2005). Given the influx of university educated immigrants in the 1990s, one might expect the earnings disparity between the two groups to have shrunk (Frenette & Morissette, 2005). In reality, the earnings gap between recent immigrants and non-immigrants increased two-fold for men during this time frame; for women, the earnings gap similarly rose, but to a lesser extent (Frenette & Morissette, 2005; Hou & Picot, 2016). Accordingly, the researchers concluded that the value of holding a university degree changed in the 1990s for recent immigrants, as having a university education did not confer any advantage in procuring high-paying jobs. Comparable results were reported by Picot and Sweetman who noted that recent immigrants with postsecondary education were "unable to convert their education and experiences into earnings" (Picot & Sweetman, 2004, p. 11).

More recent data suggests that the overqualification rate appears to be increasing for recent immigrant workers, while the same rate is decreasing among non-immigrants (Hou et al., 2020). The relative increase in overqualification among immigrants can be partly explained due to the many barriers they face when searching for employment (Hou et al., 2020). Some of these barriers include lack of English/French fluency and Canadian work experience, as well as overlooked foreign credentials (Creese & Wiebe, 2012; Man, 2004; Premji et al., 2014). Some

studies further show that discriminatory hiring practices prevent certain immigrant groups from finding adequate employment. For instance, one study showed that having an Indian, Pakistani, Chinese, or Greek name decreases one's chances of hearing back from a potential employer compared to individuals with English names (Oreopoulos, 2011). In a similar vein, Creese and Wiebe showed that employers may discriminate against hiring African immigrants based on their accent (Creese & Wiebe, 2012).

As a consequence of such barriers, many recent immigrants are forced into finding "survival jobs" to meet basic needs (Creese & Wiebe, 2012). Moreover, due to the gendered nature of the labour market, some barriers to employment may be more salient among immigrant women compared to their male counterparts (Creese & Wiebe, 2012). For example, Creese and Wiebe (2012) argue that many jobs involving manual labour, which predominantly employ men, do not require Canadian job experience. In contrast, jobs that are more likely to employ women, such as the service industry and administerial occupations require Canadian experience and a high degree of English/French language competency, which new immigrants are unlikely to have (Creese & Wiebe, 2012). Although both men and women struggle to find occupations that align with their educational qualifications, immigrant women could be more disadvantaged in securing education-matched employment (Creese & Wiebe, 2012).

As alluded to above, the underutilization of human capital has financial consequences for both individual immigrants and the microeconomic environments which surround them (McGuinness, 2006). At the individual level, overqualification is associated with wages incommensurate with one's level of education (F. Green & Henseke, 2016; Reitz, 2001). One study estimated that the underutilization of skills was associated with \$2.4 billion (CAD) in

reduced earnings among immigrants in 1996 (Reitz, 2001). Furthermore, many immigrants earn less income than the national average for the first 10 years after arrival (Beiser, 2005). Although most immigrants integrate successfully into Canadian society, a sizeable minority of immigrants endure long periods of poverty (Beiser, 2005).

At the microeconomic level, prior research shows that overqualification is associated with decreased job satisfaction (Farooq et al., 2008; Maynard et al., 2006), higher turnover intentions (Maynard et al., 2006), and counterproductive work behaviours (Khan et al., 2022), which lower the productivity of businesses and firms (McGuinness, 2006). In addition, the underutilization of skills may lead to personnel shortages in key social infrastructures pivotal for sustaining social harmony. As the COVID pandemic reached full force, Canada struggled to keep pace with the increasing demands of the health care system due to staffing shortages (Hou & Schimmele, 2020). Yet, recent data show that immigrants are overrepresented among those with an underutilized health education (Hou & Schimmele, 2020).

Overqualification, Psychological Health, & Life Satisfaction

Before the 21st century, research on occupation and health often conceptualized employment status as a binary construct, that is, employed or unemployed (Dooley, 2003; Dooley et al., 2000). Consequently, the relationship between overqualification and well-being was largely overlooked until fairly recently (Dooley, 2003). As academic investigators began to consider more nuanced forms of employment, such as overqualification, involuntary part-time, and low-wage employment, the relationship between *underemployment* and psychological well-being started to become more apparent (Dooley et al., 2000).

Psychological Health

Although psychological health consists of various components, one of the more fundamental aspects of mental well-being is the ability to "work productively and fruitfully" (World Health Organization, 2004, p. 10). Not surprisingly, inadequate working conditions such as being overqualified for one's job, is linked to poor mental health. Qualitative and crosssectional studies conducted by various researchers have found that being overqualified is associated with lower self-reported mental health (Dean & Wilson, 2009; Mawani, 2018), higher levels of depression (Bracke et al., 2013; Wassermann & Annekatrin, 2019), low life satisfaction (Wassermann & Annekatrin, 2019), and emotional exhaustion (Gong et al., 2021). Although wanting, longitudinal studies on this subject have also reported similar results (Chen et al., 2010; Reid, 2012).

Past studies on the impact of overqualification and mental health have relied on a varied number of operationalisations to measure mental health. For instance, Chen and colleagues (2010) used a one-item, binary response measure to assess psychological well-being. On the other hand, Mawani (2018) utilized the Self-Rated Mental Health (SRMH) scale, which is a one-item, 5-point, ordinal response measure that asks subjects to rate their mental health. Other quantitative measures that have been used include the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D 8) scale (Bracke et al., 2013) and the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12) (Reid, 2012). Regardless of how mental health has been operationalized, evidence has been found to dovetail: overqualification is associated with poor mental health outcomes (e.g., Bracke et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2010; Dean & Wilson, 2009; Reid, 2012). Such an agreement between findings suggest that the association between overqualification and poor

psychological health is a fairly robust phenomenon from a multiverse perspective (Steegen et al., 2016).

Another significant aspect regarding the relationship between overqualification and mental health is related to immigration status. Although overqualification is associated with poor mental health for both immigrants and non-immigrants in most studies, some findings suggest that the mental health consequences of overqualification may be more severe for immigrants (Mawani, 2018). Mawani reported that the odds of having poor mental health were similar between overqualified non-immigrants and qualified non-immigrants within a Canadian sample. However, the odds of poor mental health were 1.63 times higher for overqualified immigrants compared to qualified immigrants (Mawani, 2018). As such, the phenomenon of overqualification may be experienced differently between immigrants and non-immigrant individuals (Mawani, 2018).

To understand how overqualification might affect immigrants differently from the Canadian-born, the process of immigration must be considered (Mawani, 2018). According to Mawani, the immigration process, particularly for skilled workers, instills unrealistic expectations regarding one's employment prospects after being admitted into Canada (Mawani, 2018). For example, under the Federal Skilled Workers Program (FSWP), potential migrants are screened for various factors considered important for successfully integrating into the Canadian labour force. Since 2013, the FSWP requires potential immigrants to complete an Educational Credential Assessment (ECA), which examines if one's "foreign degree, diploma, or certificate is valid and equal to a Canadian one" (Immigration, Refugees, and Citizenship Canada, 2013 para 1). Applicants are further assessed for their English/French language

competency, as well as prior work experience. Understandably, after being thoroughly vetted for their qualifications, immigrants will expect to find suitable employment corresponding to their level of education and skills (Mawani, 2018).

Such expectations often go unmet due to a disconnect between immigration policy and occupational regulations. For instance, many immigrants face issues with credential recognition, despite completing ECA during the immigration process (Alboim & McIsaac, 2007). Such a situation occurs because the credential assessments required by immigration programs do not guarantee if one's qualifications will be recognized by the college or regulatory agency, which governs a particular occupation (Alboim & McIsaac, 2007). Granted, immigrants from the United States and Europe have benefited from the introduction of ECA in 2013. Post-ECA immigrants from the U.S. and Europe have greater success finding employment and earn more income compared with pre-ECA immigrants from the same region (Banerjee et al., 2021). However, the association between ECA and successful employment outcomes is much weaker for immigrants from Asia and Africa (Banerjee et al., 2021). For visible minority immigrants, foreign credentials continues to be overlooked.

In addition, barriers to employment, such as the lack of Canadian experience (Creese & Wiebe, 2012), English/French language competency (Man, 2004), and discriminatory hiring practices (Oreopoulos, 2011), add further difficulty for immigrants trying to secure education-matched employment. In short, the process of becoming overqualified is different for immigrants versus non-immigrant citizens (Mawani, 2018). Immigrants encounter stress-inducing obstacles not shared by much of the Canadian-born (i.e., immigration process, credential non-recognition, language barriers, and discrimination) when trying to secure

employment in Canada. As such, Mawani (2018) proposes that the experience of overqualification might have different mental health impacts for immigrants versus non-immigrants.

Life satisfaction

Life satisfaction is defined as one's cognitive and affective judgments regarding their current state of life, and it is considered to be an integral component of well-being (Oishi et al., 2018). The cognitive dimension refers to one's appraisal of their present life evaluated against personal standards of achievement, and the affective component concerns one's emotional happiness (Hall, 2014; Oishi et al., 2018). Stated more simply, life satisfaction can be described as a "have-want discrepancy" (Wu, 2009, p. 37). Dissonance between one's desires and achievements leads to lower life satisfaction; conversely, harmony between one's ambitions and achievements results in higher life satisfaction (Wu, 2009).

The standard by which a person judges their contentment with life differs between people (Oishi et al., 2018). Afterall, people have different ambitions in life. Some may have a great desire for occupational prestige, such as working at a prestigious law firm or hospital. Others may place greater emphasis on developing and maintaining interpersonal relationships or raising a family. The idiosyncratic benchmarks by which a person appraises their life satisfaction are likely innumerable. Nonetheless, an individual's global perception of life satisfaction provides important information about one's well-being (Oishi et al., 2018). For instance, dissatisfaction with life is correlated with depressive symptoms (Koivumaa-Honkanen et al., 2004), heightened anxiety (Fergusson et al., 2015), and suicidal ideation (Fergusson et al., 2015). Lower levels of life satisfaction also predict cancer, stroke, and type 2 diabetes incidence

particularly among women (Feller et al., 2013). In essence, global life satisfaction appears to be an important marker of well-being that is linked to both mental and physical health outcomes.

With respect to the present work, past research shows that life satisfaction is lower among overqualified workers compared to their education-job matched counterparts (Frank & Hou, 2018; Piper, 2015; Wassermann & Annekatrin, 2019). To my knowledge, only one study has assessed if the impact of overqualification on life satisfaction differs between immigrants and non-immigrants in the Canadian population. The cross-sectional work carried out by Frank & Hou (2018) illustrated that overqualified immigrant and non-immigrant workers report lower levels of life satisfaction compared to qualified workers. Interestingly, however, the negative influence of overgualification on life satisfaction was more severe for non-immigrants than immigrants (Frank & Hou, 2018). Moreover, among overqualified immigrants, life satisfaction was greater for established immigrants compared to recent immigrants, which indicates that satisfaction with life might have improved over time (Frank & Hou, 2018). Such findings are odd given that overqualification is associated with declining mental health trajectories in immigrants (Chen et al., 2010). As life satisfaction is highly correlated with psychological wellbeing (Fergusson et al., 2015; Layard et al., 2013), one would expect similar conclusions to be drawn regarding the impact of overqualification on life satisfaction and mental health. Further research is needed to gain more insight regarding this apparent contradiction.

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORKS

Various psychosocial frameworks have been proposed, which describes the potential mechanisms through which overqualification impacts one's health. Such ideas include, effort-reward imbalance (social exchange), goal-striving stress, relative deprivation, and person-environment fit.

Effort-Reward Imbalance Model (Social Exchange)

The social exchange framework describes how societies provide various opportunities that involve the exchange of effort with certain rewards (Siegrist, 2000). For example, diligent effort in the workplace is rewarded with raises and promotions; laborious efforts at school leads to high-paying, high status occupations (e.g., physicians and lawyers). However, rewards are not always proportional to the expended effort and many individuals have limited agency over what opportunities are accessible (Siegrist, 2000). What often results is a discrepancy between one's effort and reward, or simply, effort-reward imbalance (ERI) (Siegrist, 2000). When reward is not proportional to effort, self-regulatory needs in the form of "self-esteem, self-efficacy, and self-integration" (Siegrist, 2000, p. 1286) are threatened. Prolonged exposure to ERI in environments such as one's workplace is speculated to produce psychosocial distress detrimental to one's mental and physical state (Harari et al., 2017; Siegrist, 2000).

Originally, ERI was postulated as a mechanism for explaining the link between cardiovascular disease and lack of socio-economic control (Siegrist et al., 1986). To study the effects of ERI, the ERI questionnaire was developed, which assesses the ratio of effort to reward in relation to one's workplace (Siegrist et al., 2014). Specifically, one's perception of effort expenditure at work is compared with rewards that have been received or are expected (e.g.,

raises & promotions). When one's efforts at work do not result in a proportional reward in status, upward mobility, or job security, one's health may be put at risk (Siegrist, 2000; Siegrist et al., 2014). Using the aforementioned ERI – scale (as well as others), many studies have demonstrated an association between ERI and cardiovascular morbidity/mortality (e.g., Bosma et al., 1998; Kivimäki et al., 2002; Kuper et al., 2002). Beyond cardiovascular outcomes, some evidence suggest that workplace ERI is associated with poor mental health outcomes, such as depression (see review van Vegchel et al., 2005) and predicts weight gain (Kivimäki et al., 2002).

This concept of effort-reward imbalance has been applied to explain the association between overqualification, well-being and job satisfaction (Gong et al., 2021; Harari et al., 2017). In particular, one's educational attainment is viewed as one's effort, and one's occupational level is thought of as one's reward (Gong et al., 2021). Stated simply, overqualification can be conceptualized as the perpetual state which provides little reward for previous effort expended in education or training (Gong et al., 2021; Harari et al., 2017). When an individual is overqualified for their work, an effort-reward imbalance is realized, which is thought to produce psychosocial distress that is harmful to one's health (Harari et al., 2017). Goal-Striving Stress

Similar to ERI, the Goal Striving-Stress framework suggests that poor health results from an imbalance created from an education-occupation mismatch. Instead of conceptualizing this imbalance as an effort-reward discrepancy, goal-striving stress theory postulates that the imbalance is between aspiration and achievement (Parker et al., 1960; Smith & Frank, 2005). Aspiration refers to some future goal one hopes to attain, and achievement is defined as the level of success relative to those ambitions (Smith & Frank, 2005).

Specific to overqualification, one's educational investment (i.e., years of schooling/level of educational obtainment) is thought to reflect one's *aspiration*; occupational status is regarded as the *achievement*, which symbolizes the fruits of one's educational labour (Parker et al., 1960; Smith & Frank, 2005). The discrepancy between aspiration and achievement is theorized to produce psychosocial distress inimical to well-being (Parker et al., 1960; Smith & Frank, 2005). To my knowledge, the relationship between goal-striving stress, overqualification, and health outcomes have never been directly studied. As such, the mediatory role of goalstriving stress between overqualification and health is speculation. More generally, however, past research has found an association between goal-striving stress and poor health outcomes, such as coronary heart disease (Glover et al., 2020) and kidney disease (Cain et al., 2019). Relative Deprivation

The previous two frameworks are based on the ability/inability to maintain a balance between two psychological elements (i.e., effort/reward, and aspiration/achievement) existing within oneself. Other theories, such as relative deprivation, are broader in scope and suggests that a harmful psychological imbalance can exist *between people* as well as *within people*. First, relative deprivation *between people* refers to the negative affect experienced by individuals when making social comparisons pertaining to a certain quality of being (Burns, 1966; Dunlavy et al., 2016). The initial conception of this theory involved the observation that individuals felt more dissatisfied when someone from their peer group/unit obtained promotions (Burns, 1966). On the other hand, individuals were less likely to feel dissatisfied when the stature of individuals within one's group were more likely to stay the same (Burns, 1966; Webber, 2007).

In generalized terms, an individual may feel deprived if similar others are more successful than themselves (Dunlavy et al., 2016).

Past research on relative deprivation between people have relied on both general and domain-specific instrument tools. General measures of relative deprivation assess global feelings (e.g., "When I think about what I have compared to others, I feel deprived"), whereas domain-specific measures are adapted to a certain context or domain, such as income (Mishra & Carleton, 2015, p. 146). Global feelings of relative deprivation have been associated with negative health outcomes in past research. Mishra & Carleton (2015) reported that general perceptions of relative deprivation were correlated with poor self-report ratings of physical and mental health (Mishra & Carleton, 2015). Some researchers also speculate that the association between relative deprivation and poor health may be stronger within immigrant groups, as such groups may attribute the cause of comparative privation to host country discrimination (Grant, 2008).

Pertaining to domain-specific assessments, some research has been conducted on overqualification. Researchers have speculated that feelings of relative deprivation may emerge if overqualified workers compare themselves to their more successful counterparts (i.e., qualified workers) with similar educational backgrounds (Dunlavy et al., 2016; Erdogan et al., 2018). Erdogan and colleagues (2018) asked overqualified workers to compare their employment conditions with qualified individuals holding similar credentials and/or education. Their findings showed that job-specific feelings of relative deprivation mediates the relationship between overqualification and poor well-being (Erdogan et al., 2018).

The second form of relative deprivation (i.e., *within people*) refers to the negative affect arising from the comparison of past and present self-states (Feldman et al., 2002). If one's past state was superior to one's current state, one may feel deprived with respect to their temporal circumstances (Feldman et al., 2002). With respect to overqualification, within-person relative deprivation may occur when one's current job is inferior to one's past employment conditions (Feldman et al., 2002). Although the research on this matter is limited, within-person feelings of relative deprivation may mediate the association between overqualification and poor mental health (Feldman et al., 2002).

Person-environment fit

Another framework that may explain the relationship between negative health outcomes and overqualification is the theory of person-environment fit (PE), which has its origins in the organizational/management literature (Kristof-Brown et al., 2005). PE theory suggests that the individual characteristics of workers need to be in harmony with the job environment for optimal performance and well-being (Caplan, 1987; Kristof-Brown et al., 2005). Caplan (1987) explains that there are two kinds of PE fit in the workplace. The first is referred to as the "demands-abilities fit", which expresses the match between an individual's capacity to meet the demands of one's workplace (Caplan, 1987). In essence, the demands-abilities fit is concerned with how an individual supplies what is needed for an occupation. In contrast, "needs-supplies fit", refers to how the workplace fulfills various individual needs, such as socialemotional support (Caplan, 1987). In either type of PE fit, a "misfit" situation is surmised to produce psychosocial strains harmful to health (Caplan, 1987).

Past research on overqualification describes overqualification as an instance of demands-abilities misfit, as one's educational status or qualifications are usually greater than workplace tasks (Wassermann & Annekatrin, 2019). Overqualification can also be classified as a needs-supplies misfit, as one's occupation does not provide conditions for utilizing one's full skillset and knowledge (Wassermann & Annekatrin, 2019). Stated succinctly, the theory of PE fit proposes that the inability to fully use one's qualifications, skills, and talents may lead to poor well-being (Wassermann & Annekatrin, 2019). Past findings show that many workers experiencing overqualification fail to find meaning in their work when their skills and education are irrelevant (Dean & Wilson, 2009), which results in counterproductive workplace behaviours (Luksyte et al., 2011). Moreover, the underutilization of skills has been linked to poor psychological health (Reid, 2012) and skills deterioration over time (Creese & Wiebe, 2012; Desjardins & Rubenson, 2011; Man, 2004). The prospect of losing one's skills may act as a harmful stressor, especially among highly skilled immigrants (Man, 2004).

Summary of Theories

A core theme ties together all of the aforementioned frameworks, that is, the idea of "mismatch" or incongruency. Mismatching perceptions, environments, goals, rewards, and status are thought to be the drivers behind the association between overqualification and health outcomes. Past researchers have attributed the association between overqualification and poor health to all of the aforementioned theories, including effort reward imbalance (Gong et al., 2021; Harari et al., 2017), goal-striving stress (Smith & Frank, 2005), relative deprivation (Dunlavy et al., 2016; Erdogan et al., 2018; Feldman et al., 2002), and person-environment fit (Wassermann & Annekatrin, 2019). However, most research does not disentangle the extent to

which each theory plays an explanatory role in mediating the association between overqualification and health.

More research is required to delineate what "type" of mismatch may be more salient for certain groups. Furthermore, conceptual redundancies may exist among some of the theories. For example, the Goal-Striving Stress framework and the theory of ERI have similarities. Goal-Striving Stress theory describes the mismatch in terms of an aspirationachievement discrepancy, whereas ERI describes the mismatch in terms of an effort-reward imbalance. It is unclear what distinguishes "aspiration" from "effort" or what distinguishes "achievement" from "reward." The difference between conceptual terms appear to be subtle and could lead to confusion. Moreover, the subjective feeling of "relative deprivation" may be conceptually similar to the feelings which emerge when an effort/reward imbalance cannot be maintained. Although outside the scope of the current investigation, future research should closely examine the available theories and root out any conceptual tautologies to promote clarity.

STUDY AIMS AND RATIONALE

In short, past findings indicate that overqualification has a negative impact on wellbeing. Particularly, overqualification is associated with poor mental health and lower life satisfaction (Chen et al., 2010; Frank & Hou, 2018), and the negative health effects of overqualification could be more severe for immigrants than non-immigrant (Dunlavy et al., 2016; Mawani, 2018).

Much of the past research examining the health impact of overqualification among immigrants has relied on cross-sectional or qualitative data (Frank & Hou, 2018). Although such research has provided valuable insights, more research is required to investigate the relationship between overqualification and health over time. To my knowledge, no longitudinal study has examined the relationship between overqualification and well-being while treating immigration status as a moderator. Furthermore, in the extant research, there exists a tendency to combine refugees, economic, and family-related immigrants into one category (e.g., Frank & Hou, 2018; Mawani, 2018; Smith & Frank, 2005) due to limited sample size and lack of available data (Mawani, 2018). To fill such gaps in the literature, this study sought to examine whether the health consequences of overqualification differ between immigrants and non-immigrants over a 4-year period. The present investigation also assessed if the impact of overqualification on well-being differs between the following groups: 1) individuals from different immigration categories, and 2) recent vs. established immigrants. The specific hypotheses are as follows.

Hypothesis 1: Overqualification is associated with declining mental health trajectories for both immigrants and non-immigrants.

Hypothesis 2: Overqualification is associated with declining life satisfaction trajectories for both immigrants and non-immigrants.

Hypothesis 3: Overqualification and well-being outcomes are moderated by immigration status (i.e., immigrant vs. non-immigrant) – the health impact of overqualification will be greater for immigrants compared to non-immigrants.

Hypothesis 4: The impact of overqualification on well-being will be more pronounced for recent versus established Immigrants.

Hypothesis 5: The impact of overqualification on well-being will be more pronounced for skilled immigrants compared to other migrants admitted through different immigration programs (e.g., refugees, family reunification, etc.).

METHODS

Data Source

This study used a prospective, nationally representative survey known as the Longitudinal and International Study of Adults (LISA). The LISA is a Canadian survey that collects information on labour force participation, health, education, and immigration (Statistics Canada, 2020). Data collection for this survey commenced in 2012 and is administered biannually by Statistics Canada. Data collection is still ongoing, and four waves were available for analysis (i.e., 2012, 2014, 2016, and 2018). For this study, only the 2014, 2016, and 2018 waves were used, as the first wave did not collect information on mental health or life satisfaction.

The LISA sampling method follows "a stratified multi-stage, multi-phase design" (Statistics Canada, 2020). Explained briefly, the sampling design was area-based and stratified by province and urban/rural status. For the urban strata, systematic sampling methods were utilized to select households for study participation. For the non-urban strata, geographic clusters were first created before applying systematic sampling procedures for the selection of participating households. Every member of selected households over the age of 15 were asked to participate in the LISA (Statistics Canada, 2020). The main method of data collection for the LISA was through Computer Assisted Personal Interviews or CAPI (Statistics Canada, 2020). In some cases, data were collected via telephone interviews when respondents were located in physically unreachable locations.

The exclusion criteria for the LISA were as follows: diplomats or ambassadors of foreign countries living in Canada, households consisting solely of foreign residents (i.e., individuals without permanent residency or Canadian citizenship status), persons living in the territories,
people living on Indigenous reserves (First Nations) or full-time institutions (e.g., prisons, retirement homes), Canadian citizens living abroad, and Canadian Armed Forces members stationed in foreign countries (Statistics Canada, 2020). Additionally, individuals who completed the National Household Survey were excluded to reduce respondent burden, as the two surveys were running simultaneously in 2012 (for more information on sampling design, see Statistics Canada, 2020).

Before applying study specific exclusion criteria, the sample consisted of approximately 34 000 Canadians with a response rate of 89% in 2012. Roughly 11 000 Canadians were left remaining in the 2018 wave. For missing income data, the Canadian Census Edit and Imputation System (CANCEIS) software was used to impute missing values (Statistics Canada, 2020). The CANCEIS software conducts nearest-neighbour imputation to estimate missing data points (Statistics Canada, 2020). Other variables with missing values were left vacant. Lastly, the dataset includes survey weights, which uses the 2012 Census as the benchmark. For the present investigation, only participants with a university-level education or higher were included in the analyses. College graduates can also be overqualified for their jobs. However, as a large proportion of immigrants are university educated (Statistics Canada, 2022b), this study focuses exclusively on university degree holders. In addition, unemployed individuals were removed from analyses as overqualification status cannot be assigned to unemployed individuals. Moreover, ample research has already been conducted on the relationship between unemployment and health (e.g., Herbig et al., 2013; Kim & von dem Knesebeck, 2015; Virgolino et al., 2022). Finally, participants were removed if they had missing information on key predictor or outcome variables.

Dependent Variables

Psychological Well-being

The Kessler 10 Psychological Distress Scale (K10) was used to measure mental health status in the LISA. Specifically, the K10 is a measure of "non-specific psychological distress" (Kessler et al., 2002, p. 961), which consists of 10 questions pertaining to symptoms common among an array of mental health disorders, such as nervousness, restlessness, worthlessness, and hopelessness (Kessler et al., 2002). The 10 items are assessed on a 5-point scale (i.e., 1 = none of the time; 5 = all of the time), which are summed to determine overall levels of psychological distress (Andrews & Slade, 2001). The minimum score is 10 and the maximum score is 40. In general, individuals with K10 scores lower than 19 are thought to be mentally well (Andrews & Slade, 2001; Garland et al., 2023). Higher K10 scores are associated with clinical diagnoses of anxiety and mood disorders as defined by the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders – IV (DSM – IV) (Andrews & Slade, 2001; Furukawa et al., 2003). Respondents with 3 or more missing items on the K10 scale were removed from analyses. Respondents with ≤ 2 missing scores were kept for analyses and person-means imputation was performed to estimate missing values. A person-means imputation is performed by taking the average of the items for which a score was provided by the participant. The average score is then assigned for the missing items.

Life Satisfaction

Life satisfaction was assessed on a single-item, face valid measure, which asked participants to indicate their level of life satisfaction on an 11-point scale (0 = very dissatisfied, 10 = very satisfied). Single-item measures of life satisfaction have been found to have

comparable psychometric properties to multi-item instruments. For instance, Cheung and Lucas (2014) compared the one-item life satisfaction measure with the multi-item *Satisfaction with Life Scale* (SWLS) to evaluate construct and criterion validity. The authors concluded that both measures would produce a "virtually identical answer to substantial questions" (F. Cheung & Lucas, 2014, p. 2809). Other researchers have similarly concluded that the single-item life satisfaction measure has adequate test-retest reliability (Jovanović & Lazić, 2020). Additionally, single-item measures have the benefit of reducing respondent burden when the item is incorporated into a much larger survey as is the case for the LISA (Streiner et al., 2015).

Independent Variables

Overqualification

In prior research, overqualification has been operationalized through several different approaches. The first conceptualizes overqualification as a subjective phenomenon and utilizes an array of self-assessment tools to assess whether individuals feel overqualified for their jobs (Hartog, 2000). For example, the Scale of Perceived Overqualification (SPOQ), asks individuals to answer a series of questions (e.g., "I have more abilities than I need in order to do my job", and "I have job skills that are not required for this job") to quantify feelings of overqualification (Maynard et al., 2006, p. 536). Single question approaches are also used where respondents are asked to rate their perception of being overqualified as a single metric. Aside from selfassessment techniques, content analyses of open-ended interview responses have also been used to identify perceptions of overqualification (Dean & Wilson, 2009).

Although subjective measures of overqualification are commonly used and easy to implement, there are notable drawbacks to this approach. Namely, response bias is a concern

as respondents may systematically over or underestimate the level of education required for their occupation (Hartog, 2000; Maltarich et al., 2011). Furthermore, measures of perceived overqualification might be influenced by personality factors. For example, one study reported that higher scores on the exploitiveness-entitlement subscale of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI) is associated with illusory perceptions of overqualification (Maynard et al., 2015).

The second approach operationalizes overqualification as an objective metric, which reduces response bias. To measure objective overqualification, individual education and employment information are compared with occupational classification systems (Hartog, 2000). Occupational classification systems are taxonomies created by "professional job analysts, [which contain] the required level and type of education" for thousands of occupations (Hartog, 2000, p. 132). For example, Canada's occupational classification system is called the National Occupational Classification (NOC), which was developed by the department of Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC) and Statistics Canada (Statistics Canada, 2023b). The NOC system collapses approximately 30 000 job titles in to 500 unique occupational groupings (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2021). Each group is assigned 1 of 4 "skill levels", which identifies the qualifications necessary for a particular occupation: A) bachelor's degree or higher; B) a college education or technical/vocational training; C) a high school education; and D) no formal education (Employment and Social Development Canada, 2021). By comparing individual education and occupational classification systems such as the NOC, one can determine if one is overqualified based on education-occupation mismatch (Hartog, 2000).

The third approach is referred to as the realized matching method, which involves calculating the average educational attainment of individuals working in a particular occupation (Banerjee et al., 2019; Hartog, 2000). Any individuals with above average qualifications are considered to be overqualified (Hartog, 2000). Some researchers argue that the realized matching approach may simply reflect hiring practices determined by labour market conditions as opposed to true instances of overqualification (Banerjee et al., 2019; Hartog, 2000). As such, the realized matching method has fallen out of favour, and is considered inferior to the subjective and objective measurement approaches described above (Banerjee et al., 2019; Hartog, 2000).

For this study, the objective approach to measuring overqualification was used. Frank and Hou's (2018) operational definition of overqualification was borrowed: 1) overqualification, 2) marginal overqualification, 3) qualified. Overqualification refers to university or professional degree holders that are employed in occupations that only require secondary education; marginal overqualification refers to university or professional degree holders employed in occupations that "require some post-secondary education, but not a university degree" (Frank & Hou, 2018, p. 891). For a full breakdown of the procedure for assigning overqualification status, please see Appendix C.

Immigration Recency

Different definitions have been used in past research to classify individuals as a recent or established immigrant. Statistics Canada operationalizes recent immigrants as individuals having resided in Canada for no greater than five years after acquiring their permanent residency status (Statistics Canada, 2017). Other researchers have considered recent

immigrants to be individuals who have lived in Canada for less than ten years (Hou et al., 2020). For this study, recent immigrants were operationalized as individuals holding permanent residency status and having resided in Canada for less than 10 years.

Immigration Category and Immigration Status

The LISA categorizes immigrants by the program by which they were admitted into Canada. The immigration program categories include the following: the points system or economic immigrants, refugees, family-related immigrants, immigrants that arrived in childhood, and other. The "other" category was omitted from analyses due to interpretative difficulty and small cell count. For the majority of the analysis, immigration status will be treated as a dichotomous variable (i.e., 1 = immigrant, 0 = non-immigrant). For two analyses, immigration status was further categorized, as specified above.

Control Variables

Age, biological sex, marital status, visible minority status, socio-economic status, region of origin, and the presence of dependents less than five years old were included as control variables. All covariates were selected based on previous research on overqualification and immigrant health. Age was operationalized as a variable containing 5 categories: 1) 18 to 27, 2) 28 to 37 3) 38 to 47, 4) 48 to 57, and 5) 58 to 67. The oldest group was used as the reference category in accordance with previous research (e.g., Frank & Hou, 2018). Marital status contained 4 categories: 1) married; 2) divorced, separated, widowed; 3) common Law; 4) single. The married group acted as the reference group. Visible minority status consisted of three groups (i.e., 0 = non-minority, 1 = visible minority, and 2 = Indigenous), and socio-economic status was based on income and contained 5 groups (i.e., 1 = less than \$29, 999 (low), 2 =

\$30,000 - \$49,999 (low-mid), 3 = \$50,000 - \$69,999 (mid), 4 = greater than \$100,000 (high), 0 = \$70,000 - \$99,999 (upper-middle)). The socio-economic status variable uses the same categorization as Frank and Hou (2017). Region of origin included, Asia, Africa, Europe, Latin America & the Caribbeans, with North America as the reference group. Oceania was removed from the variable due to insufficient cell count. Lastly, biological sex (i.e., 0 = female, 1 = male) and the presence of dependents (i.e., 0 = no children or children are equal to or greater than 5 years of age, 1 = presence of children less than 5 years of age) were both binary variables.

ANALYITCAL PROCEDURE

To analyze the longitudinal data, multi-level or mixed-effects modelling techniques were used. Such approaches have several benefits over traditional approaches to analyzing longitudinal data. For instance, multi-level modeling techniques do not require assumptions of compound symmetry, that is, equal variances and covariances (Hedeker & Gibbons, 2006). Furthermore, maximum likelihood estimation procedures used in mixed-effects modelling can mitigate some issues of data missing at random (Hedeker & Gibbons, 2006). On the other hand, other approaches such as repeated measures ANOVA, require complete case analysis, which results in the loss of statistical power if attrition is too large (Hedeker & Gibbons, 2006). The terminology, methodology, and equation notation for multi-level modelling closely follow the conventions set by Singer and Willet (2003).

According to Statistics Canada guidelines, all analyses were performed using sampling weights to make the data representative of the population. The majority of the descriptive statistics have been reported in their weighted form to protect the anonymity of the participants. Furthermore, any raw descriptive statistics have been rounded to the nearest 5. To check for model assumptions of residual normality and homoscedasticity of variance, quantile-quantile plots and residual plots were visually examined, respectively. All data cleaning procedures were completed in R 4.3 (R Core Team, 2021) and all models were fit using STATA's *mixed* command (StataCorp, 2021). For all models, maximum likelihood estimation was used to compute parameter estimates.

Model A: Overqualification, Immigration Status & Mental Health

Empirical growth plots were fitted for a random subset of LISA respondents to assess functional form and variability in the intercept and slope over time. Secondly, the unconditional means model was fit to the data. Its purpose was to estimate the between-person and withinperson variance components in the absence of predictor variables.

Equation 1:

$$Y_{ij} = \pi_{0i} + \varepsilon_{ij} \text{ (Level 1)}$$

$$\pi_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \zeta_{0i} \text{ (Level 2)}$$

 Y_{ij} is the outcome variable, K10, for participant *i* at time *j*. π_{0i} is the mean for participant *i*, and ε_{ij} is the within-person error for participant *i* at time *j*. ε_{ij} is assumed to be normally distributed with a mean of zero and constant variance, $\varepsilon_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma_{\varepsilon}^2)$. γ_{00} is the grand mean, and ζ_{0i} is the between-person error for participant *i*. The between-person error is also assumed to be normally distributed with a mean of zero and constant variance, $\varepsilon_{0i} \sim N(0, \sigma_0^2)$. The variance components for the error terms, σ_{ε}^2 and σ_0^2 , was used to compute the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC), which describes how much of the outcome variation is ascribable to between-person differences. Furthermore, the variance provides justification for adding predictor variables into the multi-level model (Singer & Willett, 2003). After fitting the unconditional means model, the unconditional growth model was fitted to the data. This model introduces time (*time_{ii}*) as a variable into the level 1 equation.

Equation 2:

$$Y_{ij} = \pi_{0i} + \pi_{1i} time_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ij} \text{ (Level 1)}$$
$$\pi_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \zeta_{0i} \text{ (Level 2)}$$
$$\pi_{1i} = \gamma_{10} + \zeta_{1i} \text{ (Level 2)}$$

$$\varepsilon_{ij} \sim N(0, \sigma_{\varepsilon}^{2}) \\ \begin{bmatrix} \zeta_{0i} \\ \zeta_{1i} \end{bmatrix} \sim N\left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \sigma_{0}^{2} & \sigma_{01} \\ \sigma_{01} & \sigma_{1}^{2} \end{bmatrix} \right)$$

 π_{1i} is the slope for participant *i*, γ_{10} is the mean slope across all participants, and ζ_{1i} is the between-person error for the slope. Similar to the unconditional means model, each sub-level has a variance component as described above. The covariance estimate (σ_{01}) expresses the association between π_{0i} and π_{1i} . An important purpose of fitting the unconditional growth model is to establish a benchmark by which successive models will be compared. Upon fitting the unconditional models, the main analyses were performed with all predictor variables.

Equation 3 is the composite formulation of the multi-level model, which contains the key predictor variables under investigation (not all covariates are shown for the sake of space). Equation 3:

$$\begin{split} Y_{ij} &= \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{10} time_{ij} + \gamma_{01} OQ_i + \gamma_{02} MOQ_i + \gamma_{03} IMM_i \\ &+ \gamma_{04} OQ_{ij} * IMM_i + \gamma_{05} MOQ_i * IMM_i \\ &+ \gamma_{11} OQ_{ij} * time_{ij} + \gamma_{12} MOQ_{ij} * time_{ij} + \gamma_{13} IMM_i * time_{ij} \\ &+ \gamma_{14} OQ_i * IMM_i * time_{ij} + \gamma_{15} MOQ_i * IMM_i * time_{ij} \\ &+ \zeta_{0i} + \zeta_{1i} * time_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ij} \end{split}$$

 OQ_i represents the binary predictor variable, overqualification (0 = qualified, 1 = overqualified) for participant *i*; MOQ_i represents the binary predictor variable, marginal

overqualification (0 = qualified, 1 = marginally overqualified) for participant *i*; IMM_i represents the binary predictor variable, immigration status (0 = non-immigrant, 1 = immigrant) for participant *i*.

Five, two-way interaction terms are present in the model: 1) immigration status*time; 2) marginal overqualification*time; 3) overqualification*time; 4) marginal overqualification*immigration status; and 5) overqualification*immigration status. The nonimmigrant category acted as the reference group for the binary immigration status variable. The qualified (i.e., education-job matched) category acted as the reference group for the overqualification variable. To test if immigration status moderates the linear association between overqualification and mental health, two, three-way interaction terms were also included in the model: 1) marginal overqualification*immigration status*time; and 2) overqualification*immigration status*time.

Post-hoc or post-estimation analyses were performed to unpack the meaning of any significant interaction effects. For significant three-way interactions, the data were first stratified by the moderator. Then, the remaining two-way interactions were investigated. For significant two-way interactions, an analysis of simple slopes and simple effects were performed. Simple slopes analysis determines if the slope of the line for a continuous variable held at one level of a second categorical variable is non-zero; simple effects analysis determines if the value of a continuous variable significantly differs across levels of a second categorical variable.

In the event that three-way interactions were statistically insignificant, they were removed from the model in an attempt to improve model fit. The change in model fit will be

assessed using AIC and BIC values. AIC values will be interpreted according to a modified version of Burnham and Anderson's (2004) guideline. A change of greater than 10 is a large improvement; delta change between 4 and 7 are considered to be a slight-to-medium improvement; and delta change that is less than or equal to 2 is negligible improvement (Burnham & Anderson, 2004). Changes in BIC values will be interpreted according to Raftery's (1995) rules of thumb. A change in BIC values between 0 – 2, 2 – 6, 6 – 10, >10 are interpreted to be weak, positive, strong, and very strong, respectively (Raftery, 1995).

Model B: Overqualification, Immigration Status & Life Satisfaction

Similar to Model A, empirical growth curves were fitted for a random subset of LISA respondents. Next, the unconditional means and growth models were fit to the data. After examining the unconditional models to justify further analysis, the full model was fitted, which contained all predictor variables and covariates. The equations for Model B is identical to those illustrated for Model A – the only difference is the dependent variable. The same procedure was followed for insignificant three-way interactions, that is, they were removed from the model to improve model fit. An analysis of simple slopes and simple effects were performed for any significant two-way interactions.

Model C: Overqualification, Immigration Recency & Mental Health

To investigate if immigration recency moderates the association between overqualification and mental health, a separate model was fit to the data (Model C). The variable, immigration recency, could not be included in Models A or B due to collinearity with the immigration status variable. As well, immigration recency is a variable unapplicable to nonimmigrants. Therefore, to investigate immigration recency effects, a multi-level model was fit

to a stratified version of the data containing only immigrants. Model C contains five, two-way interaction terms: 1) marginal overqualification*time; 2) overqualification*time; 3) immigration recency*time; 4) marginal overqualification*immigration recency; and 5) overqualification*immigration recency. The two, three-way interaction terms were: 1) marginal overqualification*immigration recency*time; and 2) overqualification*immigration recency*time.

Model D: Overqualification, Immigration Category & Mental Health

Model D examines the association between immigration category, overqualification and mental health. The variable, immigration category, could not be included in previous models due to collinearity with immigration status (Models A and B) and immigration recency (Model C). Model D contains eleven, two-way interaction terms: 1) marginal overqualification*time; 2) overqualification*time; 3) refugee*time; 4) family reunification*time; 5) moved in childhood*time; 6) marginal overqualification*refugee; 7) marginal overqualification*family; 8) marginal overqualification*moved in childhood; 9) overqualification*refugee; 10) overqualification*family; and 11) overqualification*moved in childhood. In addition, Model D contains six, three-way interaction terms: 1) marginal overqualification*refugee*time; 2) marginal overqualification*family*time; 3) marginal overqualification*moved in childhood*time; 4) overqualification*family*time; 5) overqualification*family*time; and 6) overqualification*moved in childhood*time.

Model E & Model F

Models E and F are the counterparts for Models C and D, respectively, with life satisfaction as the dependent variable.

RESULTS

The weighted sample size was n = 3, 772, 080 (unweighted n = 1, 340). Approximately 20% of the sample were immigrants (49% female) at Wave 1. 55% of the non-immigrant sample identified as female. Among non-immigrants, 67% of the sample were qualified for their occupations, that is, their educational credentials matched occupational requirements. 24% of non-immigrants were marginally overqualified, and 9% were overqualified. In contrast, 58% of immigrants were qualified, 25% were marginally overqualified, and 17% were overqualified for their their jobs.

Roughly half of the non-immigrant sample were married (51%). The rest of the nonimmigrant sample reported that they were single (26%), in a common law relationship (17%), or divorced, separated, or widowed (6%). In comparison, 80% of immigrants were married, 10% were single, 7% reported that they were in a common law relationship, and only 3% reported that they were divorced, separated, or widowed. With respect to immigrants, approximately half of the sample (52%) were economic immigrants. The other 48% consisted of refugees (2%), family reunification (26%), moved in childhood (18%), and other (2%). In addition, 67% of immigrants were established immigrants who have resided in Canada for more than 10 years. For a full picture of the descriptive statistics, see Appendix A.

The sample sizes at Wave 1 and Wave 2 were n = 1,340 and n = 1,412, respectively. The sample size increased between waves for the following reasons. Firstly, 460 participants were included in Wave 2, that were not present in Wave 1. The newly included individuals were unemployed in the first wave but were employed in the second. Furthermore, some individuals supplied information for key outcome and predictor variables in Wave 2, but not in Wave 1.

Secondly, the attrition between Wave 1 and 2 was 388 participants. Some of these participants provided information in Wave 1 but were missing values in Wave 2. In addition, some individuals reported that they were employed in Wave 1 but were unemployed in Wave 2. For such individuals, Wave 1 data was used but Wave 2 data was removed from analyses as overqualification status could not be determined. A net gain of 72 (460 - 388) participants was observed between Wave 1 and Wave 2.

At Wave 3, the sample size was n = 1,472. The net increase in sample size occurred due to similar reasons. A total of 460 participants were added in Wave 3 that were not present in Wave 2. The additions include individuals who were unemployed in Wave 2 but were employed in Wave 3. They also include individuals who were employed in Wave 1, unemployed in Wave 2, and re-employed by Wave 3. The attrition between Wave 2 and Wave 3 was n = 400. As such, a net increase of 60 (460 – 400) participants was observed between Waves 2 and 3. On average, each participant contributed data at two times points.

Model A: Overqualification and Mental Health

A visual inspection of the growth plots indicated that mental health and overqualification may be linearly associated over time. The plots also showed that there is variability in both the intercept and slope for time. Thus, the intercept and slope were treated as random variables for the subsequent analyses. Note, the empirical growth plots are not shown as they contain unaggregated data.

According to the unconditional means model (Table 1.1), the K10 sample average was 15.60. Such a result suggests that a typical person in this sample has good mental health. The within-person variance was 8.68, 95% CI [7.60, 9.90], and the between-person variance was

8.28, 95% CI [7.01, 9.79]. Both variance estimates were non-zero, which gives justification for adding predictor variables in each level of the multi-level model. The ICC was 0.49, which indicates that 49% of the outcome variation is due to differences between people.

Parameter	Estimate	SE	Z	р	95% CI
Intercept	15.60	0.08	184.64	0.00	15.44, 15.77
Var.	Estimate	SE	95% CI		
Parameters					
σ_{ε}^2	8.68	0.58	7.60, 9.90		
σ_0^2	8.28	0.71	7.01, 9.79		

Table 1.1 Unconditional Means Model (Model A – K10)

Results from the unconditional growth model (Table 1.2) indicates that K10 scores increase over time, b = 0.20, z = 2.80, p < 0.01, 95% CI [0.06, 0.34]. Specifically, K10 scores increase by .20 units every two years. The within-person variance was 5.78, 95% CI [4.85, 6.89]. The between-person variance for the intercept was 9.35, 95% CI [7.41, 11.78], and the betweenperson variance for the rate of change was 2.96, 95% CI [2.23, 3.93]. To assess model fit, pseudo-R² was computed to compare the within-person variance components of the two unconditional models. Pseudo-R² was .33, which indicates that the unconditional growth model explained an additional 33% of the outcome variation at the within-person level. Subsequent analyses included all control variables and interactions terms to determine if mental health trajectories differ in relation to certain group characteristics.

Predictor	Estimate	SE	z	р	95% CI
Time	0.20	0.07	2.80	0.005	0.06, 0.34
Intercept	15.37	0.10	147.83	0.000	15.17, 15.57
Var.	Estimate	SE	95% CI		
Parameters					
σ_{ε}^2	5.78	0.52	4.85, 6.89		
σ_0^2	9.35	1.10	7.41, 11.78		
σ_1^2	2.96	0.43	2.23, 3.93		
σ_{01}	-1.80	0.55	-2.88, -0.72		

Table 1.2 Unconditional Growth Model (Model A – K10)

The three-way interaction between marginal overqualification, immigration status, and time was insignificant, b = -0.43, z = -0.94, p = 0.35, 95% CI [-1.31, 0.46]. Similarly, the three-way interaction between overqualification, immigration status, and time was insignificant, b = -0.30, z = -0.45, p = 0.65, 95% CI [-1.57, 0.98]. Immigration status did not moderate the relationship between overqualification and mental health over time. Following the parsimony principle, the three-way interaction was removed from the model. Removing the three-way interaction term lowered the AIC value by 2.8 points and the BIC value by 15.5 points. The Δ AIC suggests a slight improvement in model fit, whereas the Δ BIC suggests a large improvement in fit (Burnham & Anderson, 2004; Raftery, 1995).

Table 1.3 presents the model output with the three-way interaction removed (see Appendix B for model including the three-way interaction). The interaction between marginal overqualification and time was insignificant, b = -0.08, z = -0.43, p = 0.67, 95% CI = [-0.45, 0.29]; however, the interaction between overqualification and time was significant, b = 0.67, z = 2.51, p < 0.01, 95% CI = [0.15, 1.19].

Predictors	Coef.	Std. Err.	z	р	95% CI
Overgualification (ref: Qualified)				•	
Marginal Overgualification	0.37	0.30	1.27	0.21	-0.20, 0.95
Overgualification	-0.20	0.36	-0.56	0.58	-0.91, 0.51
•					,
Immigration Status (ref: non-immigrant)	0.45	0.47	0.94	0.35	-0.48, 1.37
Sex (ref: Female)	-0.38	0.17	-2.30	0.02	-0.71, -0.06
Age Category (ref. 59 to 67)					
Age Category (ref: 58 to 67)	0.94	0.46	1 90	0.07	0 07 1 74
18 to 27	0.84	0.40	1.80	0.07	-0.07, 1.74
28 to 37	0.50	0.29	1.75	0.08	-0.06, 1.07
38 10 47	0.58	0.26	2.24	0.03	0.07, 1.08
48 10 57	0.14	0.24	0.60	0.55	-0.32, 0.61
Marital Status (ref: Married)					
Separated, Divorced, or Widowed	0.98	0.31	3.15	0.00	0.37, 1.59
Common law partner	0.56	0.22	2.58	0.01	0.13, 0.99
Single	0.30	0.26	1.16	0.25	-0.20, 0.80
5					,
SES (ref: Upper-middle)					
Low	0.85	0.26	3.29	0.00	0.34, 1.35
Low-mid	0.53	0.23	2.34	0.02	0.08, 0.97
Mid	0.19	0.20	0.93	0.35	-0.21, 0.58
High	-0.53	0.23	-2.33	0.02	-0.98, -0.09
Visible Minerity (ref. non-minerity)					
	0.59	0.50	1 1 C	0.25	0 40 1 57
	0.58	0.50	1.10	0.25	-0.40, 1.57
maigenous	1.85	0.76	2.44	0.02	0.30, 3.33
Presence of Children	0.01	0.22	0.05	0.96	-0.43, 0.45
International Education	-0.48	0.27	-1.75	0.08	-1.01, 0.06
					·
Region of Birth (ref: North America)					
Africa	0.28	0.75	0.37	0.71	-1.19, 1.75
Asia	-0.17	0.64	-0.26	0.79	-1.42, 1.08
Europe	0.04	0.46	0.08	0.94	-0.87, 0.94
Latin America & the Caribbeans	-0.51	0.86	-0.59	0.55	-2.21, 1.18
Time	0.23	0.09	2 61	0.01	0.06.0.40
Time	0.25	0.05	2.01	0.01	0.00, 0.40
Overqualification * Time					
Marginal overqualification	-0.08	0.19	-0.43	0.67	-0.45, 0.29
Overqualification	0.67	0.27	2.51	0.01	0.15, 1.19
Immigration Status * Time					
Immigrant	0.22	0.10	1 69	0.00	
mmglant	-0.52	0.19	-1.00	0.09	-0.09, 0.05
Overqualification * Immigration Status					
Marginal OQ & immigrant	0.33	0.40	0.83	0.41	-0.46, 1.13
OQ & Immigrant	0.43	0.62	0.68	0.50	-0.80, 1.65
-					
Intercept	14.41	0.27	52.91	0.00	13.87, 14.94

Table 1.3 Linear Mixed Model with Three-Way Interaction Removed (Model A – K10)

For individuals experiencing persistent overgualification, a one unit increase in time corresponds with an additional 0.67 unit increase in K10 scores compared to qualified individuals, while holding all other variables fixed. To unpack the results of the significant twoway interaction, post-hoc analyses were performed to assess simple slopes (Table 1.4) and simple effects (Table 1.5). The analysis of simple slopes revealed that the K10 trajectory of education-job matched individuals (b = .16, z = 1.88, p = 0.06, 95% CI [-0.01, 0.33]) and marginally overqualified individuals (b = 0.08, z = 1.88, p = 0.62, 95% CI [-0.24, 0.40]) were no different from zero. In contrast, the slope for overqualified individuals was significantly different from zero, b = .83, z = 3.32, p = < .01, 95% CI [0.34, 1.32]. The analysis of simple effects showed that at all three time points, K10 scores were comparable between the qualified group and the marginally overqualified group. Similarly, K10 scores were comparable between the gualified and overgualified group at time 0. However, at Time 1 and Time 2, the K10 scores were significantly greater for the overqualified group compared to the qualified group. Overall, the results illustrate that the overqualified group was the only condition in which people experienced a rise in psychological distress over a 4-year period (Fig 1). Main effects were found for socio-economic status (SES), marital status, Indigenous identity, age, and sex (Table 1.3). Compared to upper-middle SES, people with low SES (b = 0.85, z = 3.29, p = < 0.01, 95% CI [.34, 1.35]) and low-mid SES (*b* = 0.53, z = 2.34, p = 0.02, 95% CI [0.08, 0.97]) had higher K10 scores, which is indicative of poorer mental health. No difference in K10 scores were found between upper-middle SES and middle-SES (b = 0.19, z = 0.93, p = 0.35, 95% CI [-0.21, 0.58]). Notably, people with high SES had significantly lower k10 scores compared to people in uppermiddle SES (b = -0.53, z = -2.33, p = 0.02, 95% CI [-0.98, -0.09]). Such effects point to a

socioeconomic gradient where increases in mental well-being appear to be related to one's socioeconomic status.

Table 1.4 Analysis of Simple Slopes (Model A – K10)

Group	Slope	Std. Err.	Z	р	95% CI
Qualified	0.16	0.09	1.88	0.06	-0.01, 0.33
Marginally Overqualified	0.08	0.16	0.50	0.62	-0.24, 0.40
Overqualified	0.83	0.25	3.32	0.00	0.34, 1.32

With respect to marital status, the married group had significantly lower K10 scores compared to individuals that were separated, divorced, or widowed, b = 0.98, z = 3.15, p < 0.01, 95% CI [0.37, 1.59]. Similarly, individuals in common law relationships had greater K10 scores than their married counterparts, b = 0.56, z = 2.58, p = 0.01, 95% CI [0.13, 0.99]. Married people and individuals currently not in a relationship had comparable K10 scores. When comparing age categories, most age groups had similar K10 scores. The only difference was found between the 58 to 67 group and the 38 to 47 group, b = 0.58, z = 2.24, p = 0.03, 95% CI [0.07, 1.08]. Visible minorities and non-minority individuals had similar K10 scores. However, Indigenous persons reported higher K10 scores, on average, relative to their White counterparts, b = 1.85, z = 2.44, p = 0.02, 95% CI [0.36, 3.33]. Lastly, a significant sex difference was found in K10 scores: men reported significantly lower K10 scores than women, b = -0.38, z = -2.30, p = 0.02, 95% CI [-0.71, -0.06].

Group (ref: Qualified)	Estimate	Std. Err.	Z	р	95% CI
Marginal Overqualification					
Time 0	0.45	0.27	1.63	0.10	-0.09 <i>,</i> 0.98
Time 1	0.37	0.19	1.97	0.05	0.00, 0.73
Time 2	0.29	0.25	1.13	0.26	-0.21, 0.78
Overqualification					
Time 0	-0.11	0.35	-0.31	0.75	-0.79 <i>,</i> 0.57
Time 1	0.56	0.26	2.13	0.03	0.04, 1.08
Time 2	1.23	0.40	3.06	0.00	0.44, 2.03





Figure 1. Model A. Interaction between overqualification and time. Psychological distress levels increase at a greater rate for overqualified individuals.

Model B: Overqualification and Life Satisfaction

A visual inspection of the growth plots indicated that life satisfaction and

overqualification may be linearly associated. The plots also showed that there was variability in

both the intercept and slope for time. As such, the intercept and slope were treated as random

variables. The results of the unconditional means model (Table 2.1) indicates that the typical

person in this sample reported high life satisfaction scores, b = 7.95, z = 290.89, p < .001, 95% CI [7.89, 8.00]. The within-person variance was 0.89, 95% CI [0.79, 1.00], and the between-person variance was 0.88, 95% CI [0.76, 1.00]. Similar to Model A, the variance estimates were significantly different from zero, which gives justification for adding predictor variables in each level of the model. According to the ICC value (ICC = 0.50), roughly half of the outcome variation is due to differences between people.

Predictor	Estimate	SE	Z	р	95% CI
Intercept	7.95	0.03	290.89	0.000	7.89, 8.00
Parameters	Estimate	SE	95% CI		
σ_{ε}^2	0.89	0.06	0.79, 1.00		
σ_0^2	0.88	0.06	0.76, 1.00		

Table 2.1 Unconditional Means Model (Model B – Life Satisfaction)

The unconditional growth model (Table 2.2) suggests that life satisfaction remains stable over time, b = 0.04, z = 1.72, p = 0.09, 95% CI [-0.01, 0.08]. However, the possibility remains that life satisfaction trajectories may differ between certain groups of individuals, as the betweenperson variance for the slope was non-zero, $\sigma_1^2 = 0.30$, 95% CI [0.23, 0.41]. The between person variance for the intercept was 1.28, 95% [1.07, 1.53], and the within-person variance was 0.61, 95% CI [0.52, 0.72]. The pseudo-R² was 0.31, which indicates that the addition of time into the model explained a further 31% of the within-person variation. The next set of models assess the relationship between overqualification, immigration status, and life satisfaction while controlling for various covariates.

Life Satisfaction	Coef.	Std. Err.	Z	р	95% CI
Time	0.04	0.02	1.72	0.09	-0.01, 0.08
Intercept	7.91	0.04	216.82	0.00	7.84, 7.99
Random-effects	Random-effects Parameters		Std. Err.	95% CI	
σ_{ε}^2		0.61	0.05	0.52, 0.72	
σ_0^2		1.28	0.12	1.07, 1.53	
σ_1^2		0.30	0.05	0.23, 0.41	
σ_{01}		-0.32	0.06	-0.44, -0.20	

 Table 2.2 Unconditional Growth Model (Model B – Life Satisfaction)

The three-way interaction (Table 2.3) between marginal overqualification, immigration status and time was not significant b = 0.23, z = 1.63, p = 0.10, 95% CI [-0.05, 0.50]; however, the three-way interaction between overqualification, immigration status and time was significant, while controlling for age, biological sex, marital status, visible minority status, socioeconomic status, region of origin, and the presence of dependents (b = 0.51, z = 2.16, p = 0.03, 95% CI [0.05, 0.98]). Similar to Model A, main effects were found for socioeconomic status, marital status, and age. For socioeconomic status, the low, low-mid, and middle income categories reported significantly lower life satisfaction scores compared to the upper-middle income reference group. No difference in life satisfaction was found between the upper-middle and high income categories. With respect to marital status, married individuals reported higher levels of life satisfaction then any other group. Lastly, life satisfaction scores were comparable across most age groups. The only difference was found between the 18 to 27 group and the 58 to 67 group. On average, the younger age group reported greater life satisfaction than the older age group.

To probe the significant three-way interaction, the sample was stratified by overqualification status to facilitate comparisons between immigrants and non-immigrants

within the same overqualification category. Thus, three stratified sub-samples were created: 1) overqualified sample; 2) marginally overqualified sample; 3) qualified sample. Within each stratified sample, a two-way interaction between immigration status and time was examined. For overqualified individuals, the interaction between immigration status and time (Fig 2) was significant (b = 0.45, z = 2.04, p = 0.041, 95% CI [0.02, 0.88]) (see Appendix B2). Specifically, for every one unit increase in time, life satisfaction improved by 0.45 points for immigrants compared to their non-immigrant counterparts. Although the linear rate of change between immigrants and non-immigrants were statistically different from each other, an analysis of simple slopes revealed that the growth rate for both immigrants and non-immigrants were no different from 0 (Table 2.4). An examination of the simple effects showed that overgualified immigrants had significantly lower life satisfaction scores than their non-immigrant counterparts (Δ = -0.82) at time 0 (Table 2.5). At Time 1 (Δ = -0.37) and Time 2 (Δ = 0.08), the differences in life satisfaction scores were no different between the two groups (Fig 2). Such an observation indicates that at the onset of this study, overqualified immigrants, on average, had lower life satisfaction scores than overqualified non-immigrants.

For marginally overqualified individuals, the two-way interaction was not significant, b = 0.10, z = 0.87, p = 3.86, 95% CI [-0.12, 0.34]. Simple slopes analysis showed that the rate of change for both immigrants and non-immigrants were no different from zero (Fig 3). Furthermore, immigrants and non-immigrants had comparable life satisfaction scores at all time points for the marginally overqualified sub-sample.

 Table 2.3 Linear Mixed Model Results (Model B – Life Satisfaction)

Predictors	Coof	Std Err	7	n	95% (1
	CUEI.	JUL EII.	2	h	33/0 U
Marginal Overgualification	0.03	0.10	0.28	0.78	-0 17 0 22
Overgualification	0.03	0.10	0.20	0.78	-0.17, 0.22
Overquanication	-0.02	0.15	-0.15	0.90	-0.52, 0.28
Immigration Status (ref: Non-immigrant)	0.07	0.16	0.42	0.68	-0.24, 0.38
Sex (ref: Female)	-0.10	0.05	-1.78	0.08	-0.20, 0.01
Ago Catagory (rof: E9 to 67)					
Age Category (Tel: 56 to 67)	0.24	0.12	267	0.01	
10 t0 27 28 to 27	0.54	0.15	2.07	0.01	0.09, 0.39
28 to 37	0.10	0.10	0.56	0.11	-0.03, 0.33
38 t0 47	0.03	0.09	0.30	0.38	-0.12, 0.22
48 10 57	0.07	0.08	0.94	0.55	-0.08, 0.25
Marital Status (ref: Married)					
Separated, Divorced, or Widowed	-0.57	0.13	-4.38	0.00	-0.83, -0.32
Common law partner	-0.18	0.07	-2.45	0.01	-0.32, -0.04
Single	-0.52	0.09	-5.94	0.00	-0.69, -0.35
SES (rof: upper middle)					
	-0.37	0 00	-4 07	0 00	-0.5/ -0.10
low-mid	-0.37	0.09	-4.07	0.00	-0.34, -0.19
mid	-0.17	0.08	-2.12	0.03	-0.33, -0.01
high	0.10	0.07	1 07	0.05	-0.07 0.25
	0.05	0.00	1.07	0.25	0.07, 0.25
Visible Minority (ref: non-minority)					
Visible minority	-0.35	0.18	-1.91	0.06	-0.71, 0.01
Indigenous	-0.26	0.20	-1.32	0.19	-0.65, 0.13
Presence of Children	0.01	0.07	0.13	0.89	-0 13 0 14
International Education	0.11	0.10	1.06	0.29	-0.09.0.30
		0.20	2.00	0120	0.00, 0.00
Region of Birth(ref: North America)					
Africa	0.13	0.25	0.53	0.60	-0.36, 0.63
Asia	-0.09	0.23	-0.37	0.71	-0.54, 0.37
Europe	-0.15	0.15	-1.03	0.30	-0.45, 0.14
Latin America & the Caribbeans	0.25	0.29	0.87	0.39	-0.32, 0.83
Time	0.06	0.03	2.10	0.04	0.00.0.12
					, -
Overqualification * Time					
Marginal Overqualification	-0.06	0.07	-0.92	0.36	-0.19, 0.07
Overqualification	-0.17	0.11	-1.56	0.12	-0.38, 0.04
Immigration Status * Time					
Immigrant	-0.08	0.07	-1.11	0.27	-0.21, 0.06
Overqualification * Immigration Status					
Marginal OO & immigrant	-0.17	0.20	-0.85	0.40	-0.57.022
00 & immigrant	-0.48	0.33	-1.44	0.15	-1.14, 0.17
		0.00		0.20	, 0.1,
Overqualification * Immigration Status * Time	0.00	0.44	4.62	0.40	0.05.0.50
iviarginal OQ & immigrant	0.23	0.14	1.63	0.10	-0.05, 0.50
ou & immigrant	0.51	0.24	2.16	0.03	0.05, 0.98
Intercept	8.20	0.10	84.83	0.00	8.01. 8.39

Group	Slope	Std. Err.	Z	р	95% CI
Non-immigrant	-0.10	0.10	-1.06	0.29	-0.29 <i>,</i> 0.09
Immigrant	0.35	0.20	1.73	0.08	-0.05, 0.74

 Table 2.4 Analysis of Simple Slopes on Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model B – Life Satisfaction)

Table 2.5 Analysis of Simple Effects on Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model B – Life Satisfaction)

Group (Ref: Non-Immigrants)	Estimate	Std. Err.	z	Р	95% CI
Time 0	-0.82	0.41	-2.01	0.04	-1.62, -0.02
Time 1	-0.37	0.35	-1.07	0.28	-1.06, 0.31
Time 2	0.08	0.42	0.18	0.86	-0.74, 0.89

For qualified individuals (Fig 4), the two-way interaction effect between immigration status and time was also not significant (b = -0.10, z = -1.55, p = 1.22, 95% CI -0.24, 0.03]). This finding indicates that the rate of life satisfaction change for qualified immigrants and non-immigrants were similar. Simple slopes analysis determined that the rate of change for the non-immigrant group was statistically significant, b = 0.07, z = 2.45, p = 0.01, 95% CI [0.02, 0.13]; the slope for the immigrant group was not significant, b = -0.03, z = -0.49, p = 0.62, 95% CI [-0.14, 0.09]. At all 3 time points, life satisfaction scores were similar between immigrants and non-immigrants in the education-job matched sub-sample.

Model C: Mental Health and Immigration Recency

The three-way interaction between marginal overqualification, immigration recency, and time was not significant, b = -0.28, z = -0.34, p = 0.73, 95% CI [-1.87, 1.31]. Similarly, the interaction between overqualification, immigration recency, and time was not significant, b = -0.23, z = -0.20, p = 0.84, 95% CI [-2.46, 2.00] (see Appendix B). Following the parsimony principle, the three-way interaction terms were removed, and the model was re-fit to the data. The Δ AIC was 3.86 and Δ BIC was 13.24, which suggests that removing the three-way interaction resulted in a better model fit. The improved model was refit to the data to assess interactions between overqualification and immigration recency on reported K10 scores.

The two-way interaction between marginal overqualification and immigration recency was not significant, b = -0.57, z = -0.80, p = 0.43, 95% CI [-1.98, 0.84]; the interaction between overqualification and immigration recency was similarly not significant, b = -1.44, z = -1.32, p = 0.19, 95% CI [-3.57, 0.70]. As such, recency of immigration did not modify the effect of overqualification on K10 scores.



Figure 2. Model B. Interaction between immigration status and time for the overgualified sub-sample.







Figure 4. Model B. Interaction between immigration status and time for the qualified sub-sample.

The main effect of immigration recency was also insignificant, b = 0.21, z = 0.30, p = 0.76, 95% CI [-1.14, 1.56], indicating that K10 scores between recent and established immigrants were comparable, on average.

Model D: Mental Health and Immigration Category

To review, Model D contained six, three-way interaction terms: 1) marginal overqualification*refugee*time; 2) marginal overqualification*family reunification*time; 3) marginal overqualification*moved in childhood*time; 4) overqualification*refugee*time; 5) overqualification*family reunification *time; and 6) overqualification*moved in childhood*time. None of the above three-way interactions were significant, while controlling for covariates. Similar to previous models, the three-way interaction term was removed from the model in an attempt to improve model fit. The ΔAIC was 2.96 and ΔBIC was 30.91.

After re-fitting the model (Table 3.1), a significant two-way interaction effect was found for marginal overqualification*family reunification, b = 1.71, z = 2.09, p = 0.04, 95% CI [0.11, 3.31]. Two types of simple effects analysis were conducted to probe the interaction. The first type compared K10 scores among individuals within the same immigration category, but with differing degrees of overqualification. The second type compared K10 scores among individuals between different immigration categories with the same degree of overqualification.

A significant difference in K10 scores was found between qualified and marginally overqualified individuals within immigrants in the family reunification category, b = 1.65, z = 2.46, p = 0.01, 95% CI [0.33, 2.97]. On average, K10 scores were 1.65 points higher for the marginally overqualified group (Fig 5).



Figure 5. Model D. Interaction between immigration category and overqualification.

The difference between qualified and overqualified individuals within the family reunification category was verging on statistical significance, b = 1.69, z = 1.89, p = 0.06, 95% CI [-0.06, 3.44]. Specifically, the K10 scores were 1.69 points higher for overqualified workers compared to qualified workers. The comparison between economic and family reunification immigrants within the marginal overqualification category showed the following: K10 scores were 1.80 points higher for family reunification immigrants than economic immigrants, b =1.80, z = 2.36, p = 0.02, 95% CI [0.30, 3.29]. Other notable results were found when comparing refugees to economic immigrants within the marginally overqualified category. Although statistical significance was not reached (p = 0.06), K10 scores were 2.03 points greater for marginally overqualified refugees compared to their economic immigrant counterparts. For overqualified refugees, K10 scores were 1.90 points greater than overqualified economic immigrants (p = 0.30).
 Table 3.1 Linear Mixed Model with Immigration Category (Model D – K10)

Predictors	Coef.	Std. Err.	Z	р	95% CI
Overqualification (ref: qualified)					
Marginal overqualification	0.44	0.66	0.66	0.51	-0.86, 1.74
Overqualification	0.66	1.13	0.58	0.56	-1.55, 2.87
Immigration category (ref: Economic)					
Refugee	0.32	2.23	0.14	0.89	-4.04, 4.68
Family	-0.43	0.66	-0.65	0.52	-1.73, 0.87
Moved in childhood	0.31	0.79	0.40	0.69	-1.23, 1.86
Sex (ref: Female)	-0.53	0.36	-1.46	0.14	-1.24, 0.18
Age Category (ref: 58 to 67)					
18 to 27	-0.50	1.36	-0.37	0.71	-3.17, 2.16
28 to 37	-0.73	0.76	-0.96	0.34	-2.23, 0.77
38 to 47	0.13	0.60	0.21	0.84	-1.06, 1.31
48 to 57	-0.74	0.55	-1.34	0.18	-1.83, 0.34
Manital status (nafe manufad)					
Warital status (ref: married)	0.21	0.70	0.45	0.00	1.00 1.00
Separated, divorced, or widowed	0.31	0.70	0.45	0.66	-1.06, 1.69
Common law partner	-0.06	0.67	-0.08	0.93	-1.37, 1.26
Single	0.08	0.67	0.12	0.90	-1.24, 1.40
CFC (reference middle)					
SES (rei: upper-middle)	0.92	0.57	1 1 1	0.15	0.20 1.04
LOW	0.82	0.57	1.44	0.15	-0.30, 1.94
	0.57	0.52	1.09	0.28	-0.45, 1.59
	0.61	0.48	1.20	0.21	-0.34, 1.55
підп	-0.54	0.74	-0.73	0.47	-1.99, 0.92
Visible minority (ref: non-vis minority)	1.19	1.31	0.91	0.37	-1.38, 3.76
Presence of children	0.02	0.50	0.04	0.97	-0.95, 0.99
International education	-0.62	0.39	-1.61	0.11	-1.38, 0.14
Region of birth (ref: North America)					
Africa	0.44	1.46	0.30	0.76	-2.42, 3.29
Asia	-0.53	1.47	-0.36	0.72	-3.41, 2.36
Europe	0.30	0.82	0.37	0.71	-1.31, 1.91
Latin America & the Caribbeans	-0.68	1.62	-0.42	0.68	-3.86, 2.51
Time	-0.09	0.25	-0.37	0.71	-0.59, 0.40
Overqualification*Time					
Marginal overqualification	-0.47	0.41	-1.15	0.25	-1.27, 0.33
Overqualification	0.09	0.53	0.16	0.87	-0.95, 1.12
Immigration category*Time					
Refugee	1.37	1.39	0.98	0.33	-1.36, 4.09
Family	0.49	0.42	1.17	0.24	-0.33, 1.30
Moved in childhood	0.04	0.39	0.09	0.93	-0.73, 0.80

Table 3.1 Continued.

Predictors	Coef.	Std. Err.	Z	р	95% CI
Overqualification*Immigration Category					
MOQ & Refugee	0.26	3.12	0.08	0.93	-5.85, 6.37
MOQ & Family	1.71	0.82	2.09	0.04	0.11, 3.31
MOQ & Moved when child	0.55	0.96	0.57	0.57	-1.34, 2.44
OQ & Refugee	0.12	2.41	0.05	0.96	-4.60, 4.85
OQ & Family	0.94	1.27	0.74	0.46	-1.55, 3.43
OQ & Moved when child	-0.85	1.29	-0.66	0.51	-3.37, 1.68
Intercept	15.32	1.01	15.11	0.00	13.34, 17.31

Model E: Life Satisfaction and Immigration Recency

The three-way interaction between marginal overqualification, immigration recency and time was not significant, b = 0.15, z = 0.57, p = 0.57, 95% CI [-0.36, 0.65]; the interaction between overqualification, immigration recency and time was also not significant, b = -0.38, z = -0.89, p = 0.37, 95% CI [-1.23, 0.46]. Therefore, immigration recency does not modify the effect of overqualification on life satisfaction over time.

As with previous models, the three-way interaction was removed, and the model was re-fit to the data. The Δ AIC was 1.65, which suggests that the improvement in model fit is negligible; however, the Δ BIC was 11.01, which is indicative of a large improvement in fit. For the re-fitted model, a significant two-way interaction was found between immigration recency and time, *b* = -0.30, *z* = -2.44, *p* = 0.02, 95% CI [-0.53, 0.06]. In particular, compared to established immigrants, recent immigrants experience a 0.30 unit drop in life satisfaction every two years, when other variables are held fixed. All other interaction effects did not reach statistical significance (Table 4.1).

Post-hoc analyses were performed to unpack the significant two-way interaction. The analysis of simple slopes (Fig 6) showed that the life satisfaction trajectory for established

immigrants was positive and significantly different from zero, b = 0.20, z = 2.89, p < 0.01, 95% CI [-0.07, 0.34]; the slope for recent immigrants was negative, although not statistically significant, b = -0.09, z = -0.96, p = 0.34, 95% CI [-0.29, 0.10].



Figure 6. Model E. Interaction between immigration recency and time.

 Table 4.1 Linear Mixed Model with immigration Recency (Model E – Life Satisfaction)

Overqualification Marginal overqualification -0.16 -0.59 0.41 -1.43 0.15 -1.39, 0.22 Immigration recency (ref: Established) Sex (ref: Female) 0.41 0.25 1.60 0.11 -0.09, 0.09 Age category (ref: 58 to 67) - - - - - - - 0.56 0.21 - 0.39, 0.09 Age category (ref: 58 to 67) - - - - 0.51 0.34 1.77 0.08 -0.06, 1.28 38 to 47 0.45 0.22 2.00 0.05 0.01, 0.89 38 - 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Marital status (ref: married) - - - - - 0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, 0.14 - SEs (ref: upper-middle) - - - -0.12 0.16 -0.72 -0.47 -0.44, 0.20 -0.14 -0.18 0.18 -1.02 0.31 -0.54, 0.17 -0.65, 0.10 -0.18 0.18 -1.12 0.65	Predictors	Coef.	Std. Err.	z	Р	95% CI
Marginal overqualification 0.16 0.22 -0.75 0.45 -0.58, 0.26 Overqualification 0.59 0.41 -1.43 0.15 -1.39, 0.22 Immigration recency (ref: Established) 0.41 0.25 1.60 0.11 -0.09, 0.91 Sex (ref: Female) 0.41 0.25 1.60 0.11 -0.09, 0.91 Age category (ref: S8 to 67) 0.45 0.22 2.00 0.05 0.01, 0.89 38 to 47 0.30 0.20 1.56 0.12 -0.08, 0.69 48 to 57 0.17 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Marital status (ref: married) Separated, divorced, or widowed -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, 0.14 Etw -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low-mid -0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.13 Low -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low-mid -0.22 0.13 -0.72	Overqualification (ref: qualified)					
Overqualification -0.59 0.41 -1.43 0.15 -1.39, 0.22 Immigration recency (ref: Established) 0.41 0.25 1.60 0.11 -0.09, 0.91 Sex (ref: Female) -0.15 0.12 -1.25 0.21 -0.39, 0.09 Age category (ref: 58 to 67)	Marginal overqualification	-0.16	0.22	-0.75	0.45	-0.58, 0.26
Immigration recency (ref: Established) 0.41 0.25 1.60 0.11 0.09, 0.91 Age category (ref: 58 to 67) 1.125 0.21 -0.39, 0.09 0.41 0.25 0.21 -0.39, 0.09 0.91 0.39, 0.09 0.41 0.25 0.21 -0.39, 0.09 0.41 0.39, 0.05 0.01, 0.89 0.81 0.45 0.22 2.00 0.05 0.01, 0.89 0.84 0.47 0.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Marital status (ref: maried) 0.17 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Separated, divorced, or widowed -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, 0.14 SES (ref: upper-middle) -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low -mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 -1.02 0.31 -0.54, 0.31 -0.56, 0.16 Low -mid -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 0.65, 0.16 0.18 0.18 -0.27 0.47	Overqualification	-0.59	0.41	-1.43	0.15	-1.39, 0.22
Immigration recency (ref: Established) 0.41 0.25 1.60 0.11 -0.09, 0.91 Sex (ref: Female) -0.15 0.12 -1.25 0.21 -0.39, 0.09 Age category (ref: 58 to 67) 18 to 27 0.61 0.34 1.77 0.08 -0.06, 1.28 28 to 37 0.30 0.20 1.56 0.12 -0.08, 0.69 48 to 57 0.17 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Separated, divorced, or widowed -0.54 0.31 -1.73 0.08 -0.60, 0.50 Single -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 Low -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low-mid -0.12 0.16 0.37 -0.47 0.41, 0.20 Mid -0.12 0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16						
Sex (ref: Female) -0.15 0.12 -1.25 0.21 -0.39, 0.09 Age category (ref: S8 to 67) 18 to 27 0.61 0.34 1.77 0.08 -0.06, 1.28 28 to 37 0.45 0.22 2.00 0.05 0.00, 0.89 38 to 47 0.30 0.20 1.56 0.12 -0.08, 0.69 48 to 57 0.17 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Marital status (ref: married) Separated, divorced, or widowed -0.54 0.31 -1.73 0.08 -0.16, 0.50 Single 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low-mid -0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 <	Immigration recency (ref: Established)	0.41	0.25	1.60	0.11	-0.09, 0.91
Age category (ref: 58 to 67) 18 to 27 0.61 0.34 1.77 0.08 -0.06, 1.28 28 to 37 0.45 0.22 2.00 0.05 0.01, 0.89 38 to 47 0.30 0.20 1.56 0.12 -0.08, 0.69 48 to 57 0.17 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Marital status (ref: married) Separated, divorced, or widowed -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, 6.91 Common law partner -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.60, 0.50 Single -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 Low -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low-mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Nid -0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11	Sex (ref: Female)	-0.15	0.12	-1.25	0.21	-0.39, 0.09
Age category (ref: 58 to 67) U 18 to 27 0.61 0.34 1.77 0.08 -0.06, 1.28 28 to 37 30.0 0.20 1.56 0.12 -0.08, 0.69 48 to 57 0.17 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Marital status (ref: married) Separated, divorced, or widowed -0.54 0.31 -1.73 0.08 -1.15, 0.07 Common law partner -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, 0.14 SES (ref: upper-middle) - - - - - - - - 0.44, 0.20 - - 0.44, 0.20 - - 0.88, 0.17 - 0.44, 0.20 - - 0.44, 0.20 - 0.18, 0.68 - 0.16, 0.37 -0.45 0.55 - 0.88, 0.55 - 0.88, 0.55 - 0.88, 0.55 - 0.86, 0.55 - 0.86, 0.55 - 0.86, 0.55 - 0.86, 0.55 - 0.86, 0.55 - 0.86, 0.55 - <t< th=""><th>, ,</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>,</th></t<>	, ,					,
18 to 27 0.61 0.34 1.77 0.08 -0.06, 1.28 28 to 37 0.45 0.22 2.00 0.05 0.01, 0.89 38 to 47 0.30 0.20 1.56 0.12 -0.08, 0.69 48 to 57 0.17 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Marital status (ref: married) -0.54 0.31 -1.73 0.08 -1.15, 0.07 Common law partner -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 Sts (ref: upper-middle) -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low-mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 -1.11 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education 0.08 0.53 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.	Age category (ref: 58 to 67)					
28 to 37 0.45 0.22 2.00 0.05 0.01, 0.89 38 to 47 0.30 0.20 1.56 0.12 -0.08, 0.69 48 to 57 0.17 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Marital status (ref: married) -0.54 0.31 -1.73 0.08 -1.15, 0.07 Common law partner -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.60, 5.0 Single -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 SES (ref: upper-middle) -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Low -0.18 0.18 1.18 -1.02 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 1.13 -0.26 -0.18, 0.68 -0.59 -0.21, 0.36 -0.59 -0.21, 0.36 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 -0.88, 0.55 -0.89, 0.50 -0.54 0.59 -0.21, 0.36 -0.42 0.43 -1.15 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 -0.42 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 -1.24, 0.38 -3.23 0.23 <td< th=""><th>18 to 27</th><th>0.61</th><th>0.34</th><th>1.77</th><th>0.08</th><th>-0.06. 1.28</th></td<>	18 to 27	0.61	0.34	1.77	0.08	-0.06. 1.28
38 to 47 0.30 0.20 1.56 0.12 -0.08, 0.69 48 to 57 0.17 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Marital status (ref: married) 5 5 0.31 -1.73 0.08 -1.15, 0.07 Common law partner -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, 0.14 SES (ref: upper-middle) -0.28 -0.18 0.86 -0.65, 0.10 Low -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low-mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 -1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.21, 0.36 International education -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Lin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.7	28 to 37	0.45	0.22	2.00	0.05	0.01, 0.89
48 to 57 0.17 0.16 1.10 0.27 -0.13, 0.47 Marital status (ref: married) Separated, divorced, or widowed Common law partner -0.54 0.31 -1.73 0.08 -1.15, 0.07 Single -0.56 0.28 -0.18 0.86 -0.60, 0.50 Single -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 SES (ref: upper-middle) - - - -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Low -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 -0.14 0.68 -0.54 0.17 High 0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 -0.18 -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72	38 to 47	0.30	0.20	1.56	0.12	-0.08, 0.69
Marital status (ref: married) -0.54 0.31 -1.73 0.08 -1.15, 0.07 Common law partner -0.05 0.28 -0.18 0.86 -0.60, 0.50 Single -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 SES (ref: upper-middle) -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Low-mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 -1.02 0.31 -0.54, 0.17 High 0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education 0.08 0.15 0.54 0.59 -0.21, 0.36 Region of birth (ref: North America) -0.43 -1.12 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.41 -1.05 0.29	48 to 57	0.17	0.16	1.10	0.27	-0.13, 0.47
Marital status (ref: married) -0.54 0.31 -1.73 0.08 -1.15, 0.07 Separated, divorced, or widowed -0.05 0.28 -0.18 0.86 -0.60, 0.50 Single -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 SES (ref: upper-middle) - - - - - - -0.55 0.21 - - -0.98, -0.14 - -0.98, -0.14 - 0.98, -0.14 - 0.98, -0.14 - 0.98, -0.14 - 0.98, -0.14 - 0.98, -0.14 - 0.98, -0.14 0.98, -0.14 - 0.98, -0.14 - 0.98, -0.14 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 0.16 0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 - N - 0.98 0.55 -0.18, 0.68 -0.18 0.81 -1.10 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 - N - 0.56 0.18 0.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 - N - 0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 -		_				, -
Separated, divorced, or widowed Common law partner -0.54 0.31 -1.73 0.08 -1.15, 0.07 Single -0.05 0.28 -0.18 0.86 -0.60, 0.50 Single -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 SES (ref: upper-middle) -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low-mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.12 0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.22 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 <th>Marital status (ref: married)</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>	Marital status (ref: married)					
Common law partner -0.05 0.28 -0.18 0.86 -0.60, 0.50 Single -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 SES (ref: upper-middle) -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Low-mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 -1.02 0.31 -0.54, 0.17 High 0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.44 0.24 -1.74 0.08 0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 0.	Separated, divorced, or widowed	-0.54	0.31	-1.73	0.08	-1.15. 0.07
Single -0.56 0.21 -2.64 0.01 -0.98, -0.14 SES (ref: upper-middle) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 0.11 - 0.12 0.16 0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 0.17 - 0.18 0.18 -1.02 0.31 -0.54, 0.17 - 0.18 0.18 -0.12 0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 - Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 0.16 0.37 -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 - - -4.33 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 - - - -0.42 0.22 -1.38 0.32 -0.72 -0.72 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 - - - -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 - - - - -0.42 0.24 -1.7	Common law partner	-0.05	0.28	-0.18	0.86	-0.60, 0.50
SES (ref: upper-middle) -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low -mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 -1.02 0.31 -0.54, 0.17 High 0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children 0.08 0.15 0.54 0.59 -0.21, 0.36 International education 0.08 0.15 0.54 0.59 -0.21, 0.36 Region of birth (ref: North America) Africa -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22, 0.47 Overqualification*time 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07	Single	-0.56	0.21	-2.64	0.01	-0.98, -0.14
SES (ref: upper-middle) -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low-mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 -1.02 0.31 -0.54, 0.17 High 0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Africa -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.01, 0.84 Immigrati	08.0	0.00	0.22		0.01	0.000, 0.121
Low -0.28 0.19 -1.44 0.15 -0.65, 0.10 Low-mid -0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 -1.02 0.31 -0.54, 0.17 High 0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 0.02 Overqualification*time 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.23 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06	SES (ref: upper-middle)					
Low-mid 0.12 0.16 -0.72 0.47 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 -1.02 0.31 -0.44, 0.20 Mid -0.18 0.18 -1.02 0.31 -0.44, 0.20 High 0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education 0.08 0.15 0.54 0.59 -0.21, 0.36 Region of birth (ref: North America) - - - - - - - - - 0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 - - - - - - - - - - - 0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 - - - - - 0.32 -1.38, 0.32 - - - - - - 0.22 -1.38, 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 - - </th <th>low</th> <th>-0.28</th> <th>0.19</th> <th>-1.44</th> <th>0.15</th> <th>-0.65, 0.10</th>	low	-0.28	0.19	-1.44	0.15	-0.65, 0.10
Mid -0.18 0.12 0.11 -0.17 0.18 0.17 0.18 0.17 0.18 0.18 0.11 0.27 -0.56 0.16 0.18 0.11 0.27 -0.56 0.16 0.18 0.11 0.27 -0.56 0.16 0.18 0.11 0.27 -0.56 0.16 0.18 0.11 0.27 -0.56 0.16 0.18 0.11 0.27 -0.56 0.16 0.17 0.16 0.59 -0.21 0.36 0.27 0.54 0.59 -0.21 0.36 0.22 1.38 0.32 1.24 0.33 1.24 0.38 0.32 1.24 0.33 -0.07 0.29 1.24 0.33 -0.07 0.22 1.38 0.33 -0.07 0.22 0.33 -0.07 0.22 0.41 0.22 1.	Low-mid	-0.12	0.16	-0.72	0.47	-0 44 0 20
High 0.25 0.22 1.13 0.26 -0.18, 0.68 Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education 0.08 0.15 0.54 0.59 -0.21, 0.36 Region of birth (ref: North America) -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 0.41 Marginal overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.23 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*linmigration 0.23	Mid	-0.18	0.18	-1.02	0.47	-0 54 0 17
Visible minority -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 Africa -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.23 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 <	High	0.10	0.22	1 13	0.26	-0.18 0.68
Visible minority Presence of children International education -0.16 0.37 -0.45 0.65 -0.88, 0.55 Africa Asia -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 Africa Asia -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia Europe Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time Marginal overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration Recency Marginal OQ & recent immigrants Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73 -0.78, 0.73		0.25	0.22	1.15	0.20	0.10, 0.00
Presence of children -0.20 0.18 -1.11 0.27 -0.56, 0.16 International education 0.08 0.15 0.54 0.59 -0.21, 0.36 Region of birth (ref: North America) Africa -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*limmigration -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*limmigration -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*limmigration -0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigr	Visible minority	-0.16	0 37	-0 45	0.65	-0.88 0.55
International education 0.08 0.15 0.54 0.59 -0.21, 0.36 Region of birth (ref: North America) -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualification*Immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Presence of children	-0.20	0.18	-1 11	0.05	-0.56, 0.16
Region of birth (ref: North America) Africa Asia Europe Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.42 0.24 -0.43 -1.74 0.09 -0.43 -0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 -1.74 0.08 -0.42 0.24 -0.42 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 Overqualification*time Marginal overqualification 0.23 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	International education	0.08	0.15	0.54	0.59	-0.21.0.36
Region of birth (ref: North America) -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Marginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.78, 0.73		0.00	0.15	0.54	0.55	0.21, 0.30
Africa -0.43 0.41 -1.05 0.29 -1.24, 0.38 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Marginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.78, 0.73	Region of hirth (ref: North America)					
Arice 0.43 0.43 1.05 0.22 1.24, 0.05 Asia -0.53 0.43 -1.23 0.22 -1.38, 0.32 Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.78, 0.73 Warginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.78, 0.73 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.22 0.39<	Africa	-0.43	0.41	-1.05	0.29	-1 24 0 38
Europe -0.42 0.24 -1.74 0.08 -0.89, 0.05 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.24 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Marginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.78, 0.73 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.22 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Asia	-0.53	0.41	-1 23	0.25	-1 38 0 32
Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.42 0.49 -0.49 0.63 -1.20, 0.72 Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Marginal overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Marginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.2 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Furone	-0.42	0.45	_1 7/	0.22	-0.89, 0.05
Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Warginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Latin America & the Caribbeans	-0.24	0.24	-0.49	0.63	-1 20 0 72
Time 0.07 0.07 0.98 0.33 -0.07, 0.22 Overqualification*time 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Marginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Intercent 8.28 0.37 20.55 0.00 7.75, 8.81		0.24	0.45	0.45	0.05	1.20, 0.72
Overqualification*time 0.07 0.07 0.03 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration Recency -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Time	0.07	0.07	0 98	0 33	-0 07 0 22
Overqualification*time Marginal overqualification Overqualification 0.23 0.41 0.13 0.22 1.79 1.90 0.07 0.06 -0.02, 0.47 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration Recency Marginal OQ & recent immigrants Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Intercent 8.28 0.37 20.55 0.00 7.75 8.11	Time	0.07	0.07	0.50	0.55	0.07, 0.22
Warginal overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.79 0.07 -0.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Narginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Overqualification*time					
Warginal Overqualification 0.23 0.13 1.75 0.07 10.02, 0.47 Overqualification 0.41 0.22 1.90 0.06 -0.01, 0.84 Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration Recency -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Marginal overgualification	0.23	0 13	1 79	0.07	-0.02.0.47
Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Overqualification	0.23	0.13	1.75	0.07	-0.02, 0.47
Immigration Recency*time -0.30 0.12 -2.44 0.02 -0.53, -0.06 Overqualification*Immigration Recency -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Marginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.95 -0.78, 0.73 Intercent 8.28 0.37 20.55 0.00 7.75 8.41	overquanneation	0.41	0.22	1.50	0.00	-0.01, 0.04
Overqualification*Immigration Recency Marginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Immigration Recency*time	-0.30	0 1 2	-2 11	0.02	-0.53 -0.06
Overqualification*Immigration Recency -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Marginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	initial attor recency time	-0.30	0.12	-2.44	0.02	-0.55, -0.00
Recency -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Overgualification*Immigration					
Marginal OQ & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Poconcy					
Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.14 0.26 -0.54 0.59 -0.65, 0.37 Overqualified & recent immigrants -0.02 0.39 -0.06 0.95 -0.78, 0.73	Nerginal 00 % recent immigrants	0.14	0.26	0 54	0.50	
Intercent 9.28 0.27 20.55 -0.78, 0.73	warginal OQ & recent immigrants	-0.14	0.20	-0.54	0.59	-0.00, 0.37
	overquaimed & recent infinigrants	-0.02	0.39	-0.00	0.95	-0.76, 0.73
	Intercept	8 28	0.27	30 55	0.00	7 75 8 81

Model F: Life Satisfaction and Immigration Category

Model F contains the same six, three-way interaction terms as model D. Of the six terms, only the interaction between overqualification*moved in childhood*time was significant, b = -0.93, z = -2.53, p = 0.01, 95% CI [-1.65, -0.21] (see Appendix B). To unpack the significant interaction effect, the data was stratified by overqualification status. Then, the two-way interaction between immigration category and time was examined for each stratified sub-sample.

For the overqualified sub-sample, a significant effect was found for the moved-inchildhood*time interaction, b = -0.87, z = -1.99, p < 0.05, 95% CI [-1.73, -0.01]. This indicates that the slope for life satisfaction trajectory differs between economic immigrants and immigrants who migrated in childhood. Specifically, compared to economic immigrants, immigrants who came to Canada in childhood experience an additional 0.873 unit drop in life satisfaction every two years.

Post-hoc analyses (Fig 7) showed that the life satisfaction trajectory or slope for immigrants that moved in childhood was negative, b = -0.57, z = -1.71, p = 0.09, 95% CI [-1.23, 0.08]. In contrast, the life satisfaction trajectory was positive for economic immigrants, b = 0.30, z = 1.06, p = 0.29, 95% CI [-0.25, 0.84]. The analysis of simple effects show that at the onset of the study, moved in childhood immigrants had significantly higher life satisfaction scores than economic immigrants, b = 1.13, z = 2.01, p = 0.04, 95% CI [0.03, 2.25]. By Time 2, there was no difference in life satisfaction scores between these groups, b = 0.27, z = 0.55, p = 0.58, 95% CI [-0.68, 1.21]. By time 3, life satisfaction scores for the moved-in-childhood group were lower than economic immigrants, although the difference was not significant, b = -0.61, z = -0.83, p =0.41, 95% CI [-2.04, 0.82]. For the overqualified sub-sample, other noteworthy results were found for refugees. Although a formal analytical test was not applied to test for significant differences, life satisfaction scores of refugees are persistently lower at all time points when compared to any other group. For the marginally overqualified and qualified sub-samples, none of the two-way interactions between immigration category and time were found to be significant.



Figure 7. Model F. Interaction between immigration category and time.
DISCUSSION

In the near future, Canada aims to increase immigration levels to historically unprecedented highs. According to the Immigration Levels Plan, Canada intends to receive roughly 447, 000 and 451, 000 immigrants in 2023 and 2024, respectively (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2022b). In 2025, Canada plans to admit half-a-million migrants (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2022e). This planned increase in immigration levels is motivated by concerns over looming labour shortages stemming from an ageing work force (Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada, 2022d; McMullin et al., 2004). Indeed, immigrants play an integral role in sustaining the Canadian economy. Equally true, however, is that immigrants are more likely to be overqualified for their jobs than nonimmigrants (Cornelissen & Turcotte, 2020), which is associated with poor mental health (Chen et al., 2010). A large increase an immigration may unwittingly create a mental health concern among highly skilled immigrants in Canada.

To date, research on overqualification and well-being has primarily focused on crosssectional analyses and qualitative investigations (Cornelissen & Turcotte, 2020). Moreover, very few studies have examined whether the impact of overqualification on well-being differs in magnitude between immigrants and non-immigrants. The present study sought to address such research gaps by studying the relationship between overqualification, immigration status and well-being over a four year-time frame. By studying the longitudinal effect of overqualification on well-being, this study hopes to shed light on the potential consequences of increasing the immigration rate.

Mental Health: Immigrants vs. Non-immigrants

In previous research, overqualified individuals reported having poor mental health (Dean & Wilson, 2009; Mawani, 2018), higher levels of depression (Bracke et al., 2013; Wassermann & Annekatrin, 2019) and emotional exhaustion (Gong et al., 2021). The current results support earlier findings – overqualification was found to be associated with poor mental health for immigrants and non-immigrants alike. In particular, psychological distress levels increased over time for overqualified individuals, but not for marginally overqualified or qualified individuals.

Notably, K10 scores never increased beyond 17 for any one group. Guidelines for interpreting K10 scores suggest that a score equal to or below 19 is indicative of little to no psychological distress (Andrews & Slade, 2001; Garland et al., 2023). Past research also shows that individuals with K10 scores between 10 and 19 have a low probability of meeting DSM-IV criteria for a mental disorder (Andrews & Slade, 2001). Therefore, the present study suggests that overqualification may not be a major source of psychological distress, which lead individuals to clinical illness. Nonetheless, an examination of a longer time period is warranted to provide further conclusions.

Other studies have found that the impact of overqualification on mental health may be more severe for immigrants than non-immigrants (Mawani, 2018). The current study examined whether immigration status moderated the linear association between overqualification and psychological distress through a three-way interaction. An interaction effect was not found, meaning that the rate of change in K10 scores did not differ between overqualified immigrants and non-immigrants. The findings of the present study do not support the idea that the

association between mental health and overqualification differs between immigrants and nonimmigrants.

Mental Health: Recency of Immigration and Immigration Category

Two separate models were fit to an immigrant sub-sample to investigate the affect of immigration recency and immigration category on mental health, respectively. The findings indicated that the impact of overqualification on mental health was comparable between recent and established immigrants. Differences were found when comparing economic immigrants with those who migrated for family reunification purposes. Among marginally overqualified immigrants, K10 scores were higher for family reunification immigrants than economic immigrants. Similar findings were found for overqualified immigrants – family reunification immigrants (although p = .06 for this comparison).

In the current literature, it is unclear if family reunification acts as a protective or risk factor for mental health (Jurado et al., 2017). Some studies suggest that immigrants living apart from their families are more susceptible to negative mental health outcomes (Jurado et al., 2017). Other findings indicate that immigrants living alone experience less psychological distress than those living with family (Jurado et al., 2017). The present findings support the notion of family reunification as a potential risk factor for poor mental health. Although speculation, family reunification immigrants may be more vulnerable to the affects of postimmigration adversity than individuals belonging to other immigration classes.

Life Satisfaction: Immigrants vs. Non-immigrants

Among immigrants, many consider work to be an important life domain (Dean & Wilson, 2009). Underemployment is one of the major reasons why immigrants consider returning to their home country or moving elsewhere (George et al., 2012). As one might expect, overqualified immigrants report low levels of life satisfaction (Dean & Wilson, 2009; Piper, 2015). However, some scholars have speculated that life satisfaction among overqualified immigrants may increase with duration of stay in Canada (Frank & Hou, 2018; George et al., 2012).

The present results confirmed such suspicions, as life satisfaction increased among overqualified immigrants over a four year time frame. At the beginning of the LISA survey (i.e., 2012) overqualified immigrants had significantly lower levels of life satisfaction than overqualified non-immigrants. The cross-sectional differences in life satisfaction between immigrants and non-immigrants in 2012 suggests that the negative impact of overqualification was more severe among immigrants. However, life satisfaction reached comparable levels between both groups in 2014. By 2016, life satisfaction was slightly higher for overqualified immigrants (although the difference between groups was not statistically significant). Stated simply, overqualified immigrants had an increasing life satisfaction trajectory, whereas life satisfaction for overqualified non-immigrants remained constant over time. Such unanticipated results are difficult to explain through theoretical frameworks, such as relative deprivation, goal-striving stress, effort-reward imbalance, and person-environment fit. The above mentioned theories anticipate life-satisfaction to fall among overqualified individuals, not rise.

One idea that could explain the current findings was described by Frank and Hou (2018), when observing an increase in life-satisfaction among overqualified immigrants in crosssectional data. They proposed that life satisfaction may increase among overqualified immigrants due to a "response shift" in how satisfaction with life is assessed. Response shift is a cognitive strategy that attempts to mitigate the toll of life adversity. Sprangers & Schwartz (1999) describe the process as "changing internal standards, values, and the conceptualization of quality of life" (Sprangers & Schwartz, 1999, p. 1507) to adjust to one's life circumstances. For example, an individual may choose to dissociate oneself from goals that are perceived to be no longer obtainable and attach greater meaning to other aspirations (Wrosch & Scheier, 2003). Others describe this process as the redistribution or reallocation of importance assigned to various life domains (Wu, 2009).

Past findings show that individuals with the propensity to adjust their valuation of goals in the face of adversity experience an increase in life satisfaction (Wrosch et al., 2003; Wu, 2009). Specifically, life satisfaction has been found to improve when individuals redirect their attention to new and meaningful goals from seemingly unreachable desires (Wrosch et al., 2003). In health research, response shift is thought to be responsible for why many individuals with severe illnesses report comparable levels of quality of life as those without illness (Andrykowski & Hunt, 1993; Sprangers & Schwartz, 1999). An influential literature review on the quality of life of cancer patients found that self-assessed life satisfaction was similar between cancer patients and healthy controls (De Haes & Van Knippenberg, 1985).

With respect to overqualified immigrants, a response shift may help explain the increasing life satisfaction trajectory found in the present study. Many immigrants undoubtedly

perceive the work domain as an important component of their lives, especially among the educated (Dean & Wilson, 2009). Accordingly, overqualified immigrants report low levels of life satisfaction in the early years after immigration. With the progression of time, immigrants may undergo a response shift, that is, greater importance or emphasis is placed on other life domains, such as family and relationships, where one has been more successful (Frank & Hou, 2018). In summary, the present findings support the conclusions of Frank & Hou's (2018) crosssectional findings: prolonged overqualification does not have a cumulative negative impact on life satisfaction.

Life Satisfaction: Recency of Immigration and Immigration Category

Similar to the models on psychological distress, separate models were fit to assess the influence of immigration recency and immigration category on life satisfaction. The results showed that immigration recency does not modify the impact of overqualification on life satisfaction. However, recent immigrants and established immigrants followed a different life satisfaction trajectory over the four year time period irrespective of overqualification status. Established immigrants experienced a significant increase in life satisfaction, whereas life satisfaction for recent immigrants remained stable or slightly declined. Although conjecture, recent immigrants may represent a pre response shift condition, and established immigrants may exemplify a post response shift condition (Frank & Hou, 2018). In essence, the standard by which life satisfaction is evaluated may differ between established and recent immigrants.

Lastly, six three-way interaction terms were examined when investigating the relationship between overqualification, immigration category, and time. Five of the six interaction terms were not significant. However, the three-way interaction between

overqualification, having arrived in childhood, and time was significant. Post-hoc analyses revealed that immigrants who migrated in childhood experienced a significant decline in life satisfaction over time compared to economic immigrants. Some researchers have suggested that age at arrival is "associated with a permanent reduction in educational attainment..." (Schaafsma & Sweetman, 2001, p. 1069). Canadian census data further indicate that children who immigrate past the age of nine have a greater risk of not completing their secondary education compared to those that arrive earlier (Corak, 2011). Arriving in Canada at the age of 15 to 18 appears to be the most unfavourable, as individuals that immigrate earlier or later tend to complete more years of schooling (Schaafsma & Sweetman, 2001). As educational attainment is correlated with life satisfaction (H. Y. Cheung & Chan, 2009), the age of immigration in childhood may be associated with life satisfaction trajectories in adulthood. To better understand the current results, future research should investigate life satisfaction trajectories of immigrants that moved in childhood according to age of arrival.

Limitations

There are several limitations to this study. To narrow the scope of this study, I examined "vertical" overqualification (i.e., the mismatch between educational level and occupational requirements) as opposed to "horizontal" mismatches between one's education and occupation (Banerjee et al., 2019). Horizontal mismatch refers to discrepancies between one's field of education and job industry (Banerjee et al., 2019) and may offer additional insight regarding the relationship between well-being and overqualification. Secondly, in determining overqualification status, there were no means of distinguishing unintentional overqualification from intentional overqualification. As previously mentioned, overqualification's impact on wellbeing may differ between those experiencing voluntary versus involuntary overqualification (Maltarich et al., 2011). The inability to identify such differences may influence the validity of study results. Thirdly, as the LISA does not collect detailed accounts of disease incidence (e.g., diabetes, heart attacks, etc.), this study did not assess the association between physical health and overqualification. Fourthly, the present investigation operationalized overqualification according to Frank and Hou's (2018) three group system: qualified, marginally overqualified, and overqualified. This three group classification was chosen, as previous research has identified differences between marginally overqualified and overqualified individuals (Frank & Hou, 2018). Nonetheless, much of the prior work on this topic has operationalized overqualification as a binary construct: qualified and overqualified. Therefore, similarities and differences between the present and past findings need to be interpreted with caution. Another important limitation to this study is related to the exclusion criteria of the LISA. Households that consisted solely of foreign residents were excluded from data collection. Such

individuals could have provided more nuanced information regarding the experience of overqualification among non-permanent residents. Lastly, a person-means imputation was performed to estimate missing values for the K10 variable. More robust methods of imputation are available (e.g., multiple imputation) that might be considered in future research when managing missing values.

CONCLUSION

Research on the long-term impact of overqualification on well-being is important to monitor the health of the Canadian labour force. The present investigation revealed that prolonged overqualification may have a negative mental health impact on both immigrants and non-immigrants. Notably, the affect of overqualification on psychological distress was comparable between the two groups. Although psychological distress increased over time for overqualified individuals, distress levels did not increase beyond clinically significant levels. More research is required which examines the association between overqualification and mental health over a longer time period. The findings on the relationship between overqualified immigrants experience an increase in life satisfaction whereas life satisfaction remains constant for non-immigrants. Future studies should try to assess if response shift is responsible for improvements in life satisfaction among overqualified immigrants.

References

- Aglipay, M., Colman, I., & Chen, Y. (2013). Does the Healthy Immigrant Effect Extend to Anxiety Disorders? Evidence from a Nationally Representative Study. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *15*(5), 851–857. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-012-9677-4
- Alboim, N., & McIsaac, E. (2007). Making the Connections: Ottawa's Role in Immigrant Employment. *Institute for Research on Public Policy*, *13*(3). https://irpp.org/researchstudies/making-the-connections/
- Andrews, G., & Slade, T. (2001). Interpreting scores on the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale
 (K10). Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 25(6), 494–497.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-842X.2001.tb00310.x
- Andrykowski, M. A., & Hunt, J. W. (1993). Positive psychosocial adjustment in potential bone marrow transplant recipients: Cancer as a psychosocial transition. *Psycho-Oncology*, 2(4), 261–276. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.2960020406
- Banerjee, R., Hou, F., Reitz, J. G., & Zhang, T. (2021). Evaluating Foreign Skills: Effects of
 Credential Assessment on Skilled Immigrants' Labour Market Performance in Canada. *Canadian Public Policy / Analyse de Politiques*, 47(3), 358–372.
 https://www.jstor.org/stable/27085493

Banerjee, R., Verma, A., & Zhang, T. (2019). Brain Gain or Brain Waste? Horizontal, Vertical, and
Full Job-Education Mismatch and Wage Progression among Skilled Immigrant Men in
Canada. International Migration Review, 53(3), 646–670.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0197918318774501

Battu, H., & Sloane, P. J. (2002). To what extent are ethnic minorities in Britain over-educated? International Journal of Manpower, 23(3), 192–208.

http://dx.doi.org.proxy.lib.uwaterloo.ca/10.1108/01437720210432194

- Beckhusen, J., Florax, R. J., Poot, J., & Waldorf, B. S. (2013). Attracting Global Talent and Then
 What? Overeducated Immigrants in the United States. *Journal of Regional Science*,
 53(5), 834–854. https://doi.org/10.1111/jors.12030
- Beiser, M. (2005). The Health of Immigrants and Refugees in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Health/Revue Canadienne de Santé Publique*, *96*(Suppl 2), S30–S44.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03403701

Betancourt, M. (2010). Chronic Disease Patterns for Immigrants to Canada: A recent data analysis. *Health Research Policy Bulletin*, *17*, 1–52.

https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2011/sc-hc/H12-36-17-2010-eng.pdf

- Bosma, H., Peter, R., Siegrist, J., & Marmot, M. (1998). Two alternative job stress models and the risk of coronary heart disease. *American Journal of Public Health*, *88*(1), 68–74. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.88.1.68
- Bracke, P., Pattyn, E., & Von dem Knesebeck, O. (2013). Overeducation and depressive symptoms: Diminishing mental health returns to education. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, *35*(8), 1242–1259. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.12039
- Burnham, K. P., & Anderson, D. R. (2004). Multimodel Inference: Understanding AIC and BIC in Model Selection. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 33(2), 261–304. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124104268644

- Burns, T. (1966). Relative Deprivation and Social Justice. A Study of Attitudes to Social Inequality in Twentieth-Century England [Review of *Relative Deprivation and Social Justice. A Study of Attitudes to Social Inequality in Twentieth-Century England*, by W. G. Runciman]. *The British Journal of Sociology*, *17*(4), 430–434. https://doi.org/10.2307/589189
- Cain, L. R., Glover, L., Young, B., & Sims, M. (2019). Goal-Striving Stress Is Associated with Chronic Kidney Disease Among Participants in the Jackson Heart Study. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, *6*(1), 64–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-018-0499-5
- Caplan, R. D. (1987). Person-environment fit theory and organizations: Commensurate dimensions, time perspectives, and mechanisms. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *31*(3), 248–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-8791(87)90042-X
- Chen, C., Smith, P., & Mustard, C. (2010). The prevalence of over-qualification and its association with health status among occupationally active new immigrants to Canada. *Ethnicity & Health*, *15*(6), 601–619. https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2010.502591
- Cheung, F., & Lucas, R. E. (2014). Assessing the validity of single-item life satisfaction measures: Results from three large samples. *Quality of Life Research*, *23*(10), 2809–2818. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-014-0726-4

Cheung, H. Y., & Chan, A. W. (2009). The Effect of Education on Life Satisfaction Across Countries. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, *55*(1), 124–136. https://doi.org/10.11575/ajer.v55i1.55278

Corak, M. (2011). Age at immigration and the education outcomes of children, IZA Discussion Papers. *Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA), 6072,* 1–51. https://nbnresolving.de/urn:nbn:de:101:1-201111083051 Cornelissen, L., & Turcotte, M. (2020). Persistent Overqualification among Immigrants and Non-Immigrants. Insights on Canadian Society. Statistics Canada.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED609365.pdf

Creese, G., & Wiebe, B. (2012). 'Survival Employment': Gender and Deskilling among African Immigrants in Canada. *International Migration*, *50*(5), 56–76. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2435.2009.00531.x

- De Haes, J. C., & Van Knippenberg, F. C. (1985). The quality of life of cancer patients: A review of the literature. *Social Science & Medicine*, *20*(8), 809–817. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(85)90335-1
- Dean, J. A., & Wilson, K. (2009). 'Education? It is irrelevant to my job now. It makes me very depressed ...': exploring the health impacts of under/unemployment among highly skilled recent immigrants in Canada. *Ethnicity & Health*, 14(2), 185–204. https://doi.org/10.1080/13557850802227049
- Desjardins, R., & Rubenson, K. (2011). *An Analysis of Skill Mismatch Using Direct Measures of Skills* (OECD Education Working Papers, Vol. 63).

https://doi.org/10.1787/5kg3nh9h52g5-en

- Dooley, D. (2003). Unemployment, Underemployment, and Mental Health: Conceptualizing Employment Status as a Continuum. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *32*(1), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025634504740
- Dooley, D., Prause, J., & Ham-Rowbottom, K. A. (2000). Underemployment and Depression: Longitudinal Relationships. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *41*(4), 421–436. https://doi.org/10.2307/2676295

- Dunlavy, A. C., Garcy, A. M., & Rostila, M. (2016). Educational mismatch and health status among foreign-born workers in Sweden. *Social Science & Medicine*, *154*, 36–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.02.018
- Employment and Social Development Canada. (2021, May 3). *National Occupational Classification*. https://noc.esdc.gc.ca/
- Erdogan, B., Tomás, I., Valls, V., & Gracia, F. J. (2018). Perceived overqualification, relative
 deprivation, and person-centric outcomes: The moderating role of career centrality.
 Journal of Vocational Behavior, 107, 233–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.05.003
- Farooq, S., Ahmed, U., & Ali, R. (2008). Education, underemployment, and job satisfaction.
 Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences (PJCSS), *1*, 83–91.
 https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/187982
- Feldman, D. C., Leana, C. R., & Bolino, M. C. (2002). Underemployment and relative deprivation among re-employed executives. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 75(4), 453–471. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317902321119682
- Feller, S., Teucher, B., Kaaks, R., Boeing, H., & Vigl, M. (2013). Life Satisfaction and Risk of Chronic Diseases in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC)-Germany Study. *PLOS ONE*, 8(8), e73462.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0073462

Fergusson, D. M., McLeod, G. F. H., Horwood, L. J., Swain, N. R., Chapple, S., & Poulton, R.
(2015). Life satisfaction and mental health problems (18 to 35 years). *Psychological Medicine*, 45(11), 2427–2436. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291715000422

Frank, K., & Hou, F. (2018). Over-education and well-being: How does education-occupation mismatch affect the life satisfaction of university-educated immigrant and nonimmigrant workers? *Ethnicity & Health*, 23(8), 884–901.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2017.1316832

- Frenette, M., & Morissette, R. (2005). Will They Ever Converge? Earnings of Immigrant and Canadian-born Workers over the Last Two Decades. *International Migration Review*, 39(1), 228–257. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7379.2005.tb00261.x
- Furukawa, T. A., Kessler, R. C., Slade, T., & Andrews, G. (2003). The performance of the K6 and K10 screening scales for psychological distress in the Australian National Survey of Mental Health and Well-Being. *Psychological Medicine*, *33*(2), 357–362. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291702006700
- Garland, S. N., Tulk, J., Cotter, R., Zhou, E. S., Daniel, L. C., Schulte, F. S., Bender, J. L., Chalifour,
 K., & Eaton, G. (2023). Understanding sleep quality in a national cohort of young adult
 cancer survivors: Results from the YACPRIME study. *Sleep Medicine*, *109*, 293–299.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2023.07.017
- George, U., Chaze, F., Fuller-Thomson, E., & Brennenstuhl, S. (2012). Underemployment and Life Satisfaction: A Study of Internationally Trained Engineers in Canada. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 10(4), 407–425.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15562948.2012.717827

Glover, L. M., Cain-Shields, L. R., Spruill, T. M., O'Brien, E. C., Barber, S., Loehr, L., & Sims, M. (2020). Goal-Striving Stress and Incident Cardiovascular Disease in Blacks: The Jackson

Heart Study. Journal of the American Heart Association, 9(9).

https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.119.015707

- Gong, Z., Sun, F., & Li, X. (2021). Perceived Overqualification, Emotional Exhaustion, and Creativity: A Moderated-Mediation Model Based on Effort–Reward Imbalance Theory. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(21), 11367. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182111367
- Grant, P. R. (2008). The protest intentions of skilled immigrants with credentialing problems: A test of a model integrating relative deprivation theory with social identity theory. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *47*(4), 687–705.

https://doi.org/10.1348/014466607X269829

- Green, C., Kler, P., & Leeves, G. (2007). Immigrant overeducation: Evidence from recent arrivals
 to Australia. *Economics of Education Review*, *26*(4), 420–432.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2006.02.005
- Green, F., & Henseke, G. (2016). Should governments of OECD countries worry about graduate underemployment? *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, *32*(4), 514–537. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grw024

Hall, A. (2014). Life Satisfaction, Concept of. In A. C. Michalos (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research (pp. 3599–3601). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0753-5_1649

Harari, M. B., Manapragada, A., & Viswesvaran, C. (2017). Who thinks they're a big fish in a small pond and why does it matter? A meta-analysis of perceived overqualification.

Journal of Vocational Behavior, 102(Complete), 28–47.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.06.002

Hartog, J. (2000). Over-education and earnings: Where are we, where should we go? *Economics* of Education Review, 19(2), 131–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7757(99)00050-3

Hedeker, D., & Gibbons, R. D. (2006). Longitudinal data analysis. Wiley-Interscience.

Herbig, B., Dragano, N., & Angerer, P. (2013). Health in the Long-Term Unemployed. *Deutsches Ärzteblatt International*, *110*(23–24), 413–419.

https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2013.0413

- Holland, K. M. (2007). A History of Chinese Immigration in the United States and Canada.
 American Review of Canadian Studies, 37(2), 150–160.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/02722010709481851
- Hou, F., Lu, Y., & Schimmele, C. (2020). Trends in Immigrant Overeducation: The Role of Supply and Demand. *International Migration*, *59*(3), 192–212.

https://doi.org/10.1111/imig.12764

Hou, F., & Picot, G. (2016). Changing Immigrant Characteristics and Ore-Landing Canadian
 Earnings: Their Effect on Entry Earnings over the 1990s and 2000s. *Canadian Public Policy*, 42(3), 308–323. https://doi.org/10.3138/cpp.2015-062

Hou, F., & Schimmele, C. (2020). Adults with a health education but not working in health occupations. StatCan Covid-19: Data to Insights for a Better Canada. *Statistics Canada*.

Immigration, Refugees, and Citizenship Canada. (2013, May 3). *Educational credential* assessment (ECA) for Express Entry: What it is. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigrationrefugees-citizenship/services/immigrate-canada/express-entry/documents/educationassessed.html

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2020a, July 9). Express Entry Year-End Report 2019. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/publications-manuals/express-entry-year-end-report-2019.html
 Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2020b, October 30). 2020 Annual Report to

https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/publicationsmanuals/annual-report-parliament-immigration-2020.html

Immigration, Refugees, and Citizenship Canada. (2021, December 23). *Canada welcomes the most immigrants in a single year in its history* [News releases].

https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/news/2021/12/canadawelcomes-the-most-immigrants-in-a-single-year-in-its-history.html

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2022a, February 14). 2021 Annual Report to

Parliament on Immigration. Government of Canada.

Parliament on Immigration. Government of Canada.

https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/publicationsmanuals/annual-report-parliament-immigration-2021.html

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2022b, February 14). Notice – Supplementary Information for the 2022-2024 Immigration Levels Plan. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-

citizenship/news/notices/supplementary-immigration-levels-2022-2024.html

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2022c, June 15). CIMM – Economic

Immigration – March 3, 2022. Government of Canada.

https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-

citizenship/corporate/transparency/committees/cimm-mar-03-2022/economic-

immigration.html

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2022d, November 1). 2022 Annual Report to Parliament on Immigration. Government of Canada.

https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/corporate/publications-

manuals/annual-report-parliament-immigration-2022.html

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2022e, November 1). *Notice – Supplementary* Information for the 2023-2025 Immigration Levels Plan [Promotional material].

https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-

citizenship/news/notices/supplementary-immigration-levels-2023-2025.html

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2023, June 9). *Immigration Matters: Canada's immigration track record* [Promotional material]. Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/campaigns/immigration-matters/track-record.html

Jovanović, V., & Lazić, M. (2020). Is Longer Always Better? A Comparison of the Validity of Single-item Versus Multiple-item Measures of Life Satisfaction. *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, *15*(3), 675–692. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-018-9680-6

Jurado, D., Alarcón, R. D., Martínez-Ortega, J. M., Mendieta-Marichal, Y., Gutiérrez-Rojas, L., & Gurpegui, M. (2017). Factors associated with psychological distress or common mental

disorders in migrant populations across the world. *Revista de Psiquiatría y Salud Mental* (*English Edition*), 10(1), 45–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rpsmen.2017.02.004

- Kessler, R. C., Andrews, G., Colpe, L. J., Hiripi, E., Mroczek, D. K., Normand, S.-L. T., Walters, E.
 E., & Zaslavsky, A. M. (2002). Short screening scales to monitor population prevalences and trends in non-specific psychological distress. *Psychological Medicine*, *32*(6), 959– 976. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291702006074
- Khan, J., Ali, A., Saeed, I., Vega-Muñoz, A., & Contreras-Barraza, N. (2022). Person–Job Misfit: Perceived Overqualification and Counterproductive Work Behavior. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*, 936900.

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.936900

Khattab, N., & Fox, J. (2016). East-European immigrants responding to the recession in Britain: Is there a trade-off between unemployment and over-qualification? *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, *42*(11), 1774–1789.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2016.1166040

Kim, T. J., & von dem Knesebeck, O. (2015). Is an insecure job better for health than having no job at all? A systematic review of studies investigating the health-related risks of both job insecurity and unemployment. *BMC Public Health*, 15(1), 985.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-2313-1

Kivimäki, M., Leino-Arjas, P., Luukkonen, R., Riihimäki, H., Vahtera, J., & Kirjonen, J. (2002).
 Work Stress And Risk Of Cardiovascular Mortality: Prospective Cohort Study Of
 Industrial Employees. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 325(7369), 857–860.
 https://www.jstor.org/stable/25452621

- Koivumaa-Honkanen, H., Kaprio, J., Honkanen, R., Viinamäki, H., & Koskenvuo, M. (2004). Life satisfaction and depression in a 15-year follow-up of healthy adults. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *39*, 994–999. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-004-0833-6
- Kristof-Brown, A. L., Zimmerman, R. D., & Johnson, E. C. (2005). Consequences of Individuals' Fit at Work: A Meta-Analysis of Person–Job, Person–Organization, Person–Group, and Person–Supervisor Fit. *Personnel Psychology*, *58*(2), 281–342. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2005.00672.x
- Kuper, H., Singh-Manoux, A., Siegrist, J., & Marmot, M. (2002). When reciprocity fails: Effort– reward imbalance in relation to coronary heart disease and health functioning within the Whitehall II study. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *59*(11), 777–784. https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.59.11.777
- Kwak, K. (2018). Age and Gender Variations in Healthy Immigrant Effect: A Population Study of Immigrant Well-Being in Canada. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 19(2), 413–437. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12134-018-0546-4
- Layard, R., Chisholm, D., Patel, V., & Saxena, S. (2013). *Mental Illness and Unhappiness* (SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2336397). Social Science Research Network. https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=2336397
- Liu, K., Salvanes, K. G., & Sørensen, E. Ø. (2016). Good Skills in Bad Times: Cyclical Skill Mismatch and the Long-term Effects of Graduating in a Recession. *European Economic Review*, *84*, 3–17.

Livingstone, D. W. (2019). Underemployment of highly qualified labour in advanced capitalism: Trends and prospects. *Journal of Education and Work*, *32*(4), 305–319. https://doi.org/10.1080/13639080.2019.1646415

Lou, Y., & Beaujot, R. (2005). What Happens to the 'Healthy Immigrant Effect': The Mental Health of Immigrants to Canada. PSC Discussion Papers Series. 19(15). https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/pscpapers/vol19/iss15/1

- Lu, Y., & Hou, F. (2020). Immigration System, Labor Market Structures, and Overeducation of High-Skilled Immigrants in the United States and Canada. *International Migration Review*, *54*(4), 1072–1103. https://doi.org/10.1177/0197918319901263
- Luksyte, A., Spitzmueller, C., & Maynard, D. C. (2011). Why do overqualified incumbents deviate? Examining multiple mediators. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *16*(3), 279. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022709
- Maltarich, M. A., Reilly, G., & Nyberg, A. J. (2011). Objective and Subjective Overqualification:
 Distinctions, Relationships, and a Place for Each in the Literature. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 4(2), 236–239. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.17549434.2011.01332.x

Man, G. (2004). Gender, work and migration: Deskilling Chinese immigrant women in Canada. *Women's Studies International Forum*, *27*(2), 135–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2004.06.004

Mawani, F. N. (2018). Conceptualization, measurement, and association of underemployment to mental health inequities between immigrant and Canadian-born labour force participants [PhD Thesis]. University of Toronto (Canada).

- Maynard, D. C., Brondolo, E. M., Connelly, C. E., & Sauer, C. E. (2015). I'm Too Good for This Job: Narcissism's Role in the Experience of Overqualification. *Applied Psychology*, *64*(1), 208– 232. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12031
- Maynard, D. C., Joseph, T. A., & Maynard, A. M. (2006). Underemployment, job attitudes, and turnover intentions. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *27*(4), 509–536. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.389
- McDermott, S., DesMeules, M., Lewis, R., Gold, J., Payne, J., Lafrance, B., Vissandjée, B., Kliewer,
 E., & Mao, Y. (2011). Cancer Incidence Among Canadian Immigrants, 1980–1998: Results
 from a National Cohort Study. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *13*(1), 15–26.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-010-9347-3
- McGuinness, S. (2006). Overeducation in the Labour Market. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *20*(3), 387–418. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0950-0804.2006.00284.x
- McMullin, J. A., Cooke, M., & Downie, R. (2004). Labour Force Ageing and Skill Shortages in Canada and Ontario. *Canadian Policy Research Networks Incorporated (CPRN)*. https://oaresource.library.carleton.ca/cprn/31517 en.pdf
- Menezes, N. M., Georgiades, K., & Boyle, M. H. (2011). The influence of immigrant status and concentration on psychiatric disorder in Canada: A multi-level analysis. *Psychological Medicine*, 41(10), 2221–2231. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291711000213
- Mishra, S., & Carleton, R. N. (2015). Subjective relative deprivation is associated with poorer physical and mental health. *Social Science & Medicine*, *147*(Complete), 144–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.10.030

- Newbold, B. K., & Danforth, J. (2003). Health status and Canada's immigrant population. *Social Science & Medicine*, *57*(10), 1981–1995. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(03)00064-
- Newland, S. (2017). Intentional over-qualification: An exploration of motives and outcomes [Master's Thesis, University of Waikato].

https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/handle/10289/11096

Nielsen, C. P. (2007). Immigrant overeducation: Evidence from Denmark. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper*, 4234.

https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=988604

- Oishi, S., Diener, E., & Lucas, R. E. (2018). Subjective Well-Being: The Science of Happiness and Life Satisfaction. *Handbook of Positive Psychology*, 254–264. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199396511.013.14
- Oreopoulos, P. (2011). Why Do Skilled Immigrants Struggle in the Labor Market? A Field Experiment with Thirteen Thousand Resumes. *American Economic Journal. Economic Policy*, *3*(4), 148–171. http://dx.doi.org.proxy.lib.uwaterloo.ca/10.1257/pol.3.4.148
- Parker, S., Kleiner, R. J., & Taylor, H. G. (1960). Level of Aspiration and Mental Disorder: A Research Proposal*. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 84(17), 878–886. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1960.tb39121.x
- Picot, G., Hou, F., & Crossman, E. (2023). *Do university-educated immigrants recover* economically from a slow start? Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/36-28-0001/2023005/article/00003-eng.htm

- Picot, G., & Sweetman, A. (2004). *The deteriorating economic welfare of immigrants and possible causes*. Statistics Canada, Business and Labour Market Analysis Division Ottawa.
- Piper, A. (2015). Heaven knows I'm miserable now: Overeducation and reduced life satisfaction. *Education Economics*, 23(6), 677–692. https://doi.org/10.1080/09645292.2013.870981
- Premji, S., Shakya, Y., Spasevski, M., Merolli, J., Athar, S., & Group, P. E. C. R. (2014). Precarious work experiences of racialized immigrant woman in Toronto: A community-based study. *Just Labour*, *22*, 122–143. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/267935947.pdf
- R Core Team. (2021). *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*. (4.1) [Computer software]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project.org/
- Raftery, A. E. (1995). Bayesian Model Selection in Social Research. *Sociological Methodology*, 25, 111–163. https://doi.org/10.2307/271063
- Reid, A. (2012). Under-use of migrants' employment skills linked to poorer mental health. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *36*(2), 120–125. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-6405.2012.00842.x
- Reitz, J. G. (2001). Immigrant skill utilization in the Canadian labour market: Implications of human capital research. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 2(3), 347– 378. http://dx.doi.org.proxy.lib.uwaterloo.ca/10.1007/s12134-001-1004-1
- Sanromá, E., Ramos, R., & Simón, H. (2015). Portability of Human Capital and Immigrant Overeducation in Spain. *Population Research and Policy Review*, *34*(2), 223–241. http://dx.doi.org.proxy.lib.uwaterloo.ca/10.1007/s11113-014-9340-y

Satzewich, V. (1989). Racism and Canadian Immigration Policy: The Government's View of Caribbean Migration, 1962-1966. *Canadian Ethnic Studies/Etudes Ethniques Au Canada*, *21*(1), 77–97.

https://www.proquest.com/docview/1293245023/citation/CF3E71CD92A942D9PQ/1

- Schaafsma, J., & Sweetman, A. (2001). Immigrant Earnings: Age at Immigration Matters. *The Canadian Journal of Economics / Revue Canadienne d'Economique*, *34*(4), 1066–1099. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3131938
- Siegrist, J. (2000). Place, social exchange and health: Proposed sociological framework. *Social Science & Medicine*, *51*(9), 1283–1293. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(00)00092-7
- Siegrist, J., Li, J., & Montano, D. (2014). Psychometric properties of the Effort-Reward Imbalance Questionnaire. *Germany: Duesseldorf University*, 1–13.
- Siegrist, J., Siegrist, K., & Weber, I. (1986). Sociological concepts in the etiology of chronic disease: The case of ischemic heart disease. *Social Science and Medicine*, 22(2), 247– 253.

https://journals.scholarsportal.info/details/02779536/v22i0002_s/247_sciteotcoihd.xml

- Singer, J. D., & Willett, J. B. (2003). *Applied Longitudinal Data Analysis: Modelling Change and Event Occurrence*. Oxford University Press, USA.
- Smith, P., & Frank, J. (2005). When aspirations and achievements don't meet. A longitudinal examination of the differential effect of education and occupational attainment on declines in self-rated health among Canadian labour force participants. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 34(4), 827–834. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyi047

- Sprangers, M. A. G., & Schwartz, C. E. (1999). Integrating response shift into health-related quality of life research: A theoretical model. *Social Science & Medicine*, 48(11), 1507– 1515. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(99)00045-3
- StataCorp. (2021). *Stata Statistical Software: Release 17* [Computer software]. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC.
- Statistics Canada. (2014, April 2). *Overqualification among recent university graduates in Canada*. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/75-006x/2014001/article/11916-eng.htm

Statistics Canada. (2016, October 7). *Immigration and growth*. Statistics Canada.

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-402-x/2010000/chap/imm/imm01-eng.htm

Statistics Canada. (2017, August 31). Release and Concepts Overview, 2016 Census of Population: Immigration and ethnocultural diversity release. Statistics Canada. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/ref/98-501/98-501-x2016008eng.cfm

Statistics Canada. (2019, September 30). *Canada's population estimates: Age and sex, July 1, 2019*. Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-

quotidien/190930/dq190930a-eng.htm

Statistics Canada. (2020, September 15). Longitudinal and International Study of Adults (LISA). Statistics Canada.

https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=5144

Statistics Canada. (2022a, May 13). *Fewer babies born as Canada's fertility rate hits a record low in 2020.* Statistics Canada. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/o1/en/plus/960-fewer-babiesborn-canadas-fertility-rate-hits-record-low-2020

Statistics Canada. (2022b, November 30). The Daily—Canada leads the G7 for the most educated workforce, thanks to immigrants, young adults and a strong college sector, but is experiencing significant losses in apprenticeship certificate holders in key trades.

Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-

quotidien/221130/dq221130a-eng.htm

Statistics Canada. (2023a). *Crude birth rate, age-specific fertility rates and total fertility rate (live births)*. Statistics Canada.

https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310041801

Statistics Canada. (2023b). Introduction to the National Occupational Classification (NOC) 2021 Version 1.0. https://www.statcan.gc.ca/en/subjects/standard/noc/2021/introductionV1

Statistics Canada. (2023c, March 22). *The Daily — Canada's population estimates: Record-high population growth in 2022*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dailyquotidien/230322/dq230322f-eng.htm

- Steegen, S., Tuerlinckx, F., Gelman, A., & Vanpaemel, W. (2016). Increasing Transparency
 Through a Multiverse Analysis. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *11*(5), 702–712.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691616658637
- Streiner, D. L., Norman, G. R., & Cairney, J. (2015). Methods of Administration. In *Health Measurement Scales: A practical guide to their development and use* (pp. 304–348).
 Oxford University Press.

https://oxfordmedicine.com/view/10.1093/med/9780199685219.001.0001/med-9780199685219

- Summerfield, F., & Theodossiou, I. (2017). The effects of macroeconomic conditions at graduation on overeducation. *Economic Inquiry*, *55*(3), 1370–1387. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecin.12446
- Taylor, K. W. (1991). Racism in Canadian immigration policy. *Canadian Ethnic Studies /Etudes Ethniques Au Canada*, *23*(1), 1–20.

https://www.proquest.com/docview/1293193158/citation/E6987EC630ED4C35PQ/1

- Troper, H. (1993). Canada's Immigration Policy since 1945. *International Journal, 48*(2), 255– 281. https://doi.org/10.1177/002070209304800204
- Vaisey, S. (2006). Education and its Discontents: Overqualification in America, 1972-2002. *Social Forces*, *85*(2), 835–864. https://doi.org/10.1353/sof.2007.0028
- van Vegchel, N., de Jonge, J., Bosma, H., & Schaufeli, W. (2005). Reviewing the effort-reward imbalance model: Drawing up the balance of 45 empirical studies. *Social Science and Medicine*, *60*(5), 1117–1131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.06.043
- Vang, Z. M., Sigouin, J., Flenon, A., & Gagnon, A. (2017). Are immigrants healthier than nativeborn Canadians? A systematic review of the healthy immigrant effect in Canada. *Ethnicity & Health*, 22(3), 209–241. https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2016.1246518
- Verhaest, D., & van der Velden, R. (2013). Cross-country Differences in Graduate Overeducation. *European Sociological Review*, *29*, 642–653. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcs044

- Virgolino, A., Costa, J., Santos, O., Pereira, M. E., Antunes, R., Ambrósio, S., Heitor, M. J., & Vaz
 Carneiro, A. (2022). Lost in transition: A systematic review of the association between
 unemployment and mental health. *Journal of Mental Health*, *31*(3), 432–444.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2021.2022615
- Wassermann, M., & Annekatrin, H. (2019). Perceived Overqualification and Psychological Well-Being Among Immigrants: The Moderating Role of Personal Resources. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, *18*(1), 34–45. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000219
- Webber, C. (2007). Revaluating relative deprivation theory. *Theoretical Criminology*, *11*(1), 97– 120. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362480607072737
- World Health Organization. (2004). *Promoting Mental Health: Concepts, emerging evidence, practice: Summary report.*

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42940/9241591595.pdf

Wrosch, C., & Scheier, M. F. (2003). Personality and quality of life: The importance of optimism and goal adjustment. *Quality of Life Research*, *12*, 59–72.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023529606137

- Wrosch, C., Scheier, M. F., Miller, G. E., Schulz, R., & Carver, C. S. (2003). Adaptive SelfRegulation of Unattainable Goals: Goal Disengagement, Goal Reengagement, and
 Subjective Well-Being. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *29*(12), 1494–1508.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167203256921
- Wu, C.-H. (2009). Enhancing quality of life by shifting importance perception among life
 domains. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *10*(1), 37–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902 007-9060-7

Appendix A: Descriptive Statistics

Variable	Mean	SD	
K10 Scores	15.70	4.09	
Life satisfaction	7.82	1.39	
Income (\$)	63,296.43	59,616.80	
Age	41.10	10.42	

Table A1 Weighted Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Variables (Overall Sample)

Table A2 Weighted Descriptive Statistics for Continuous Variables (Sub-Sample)

Variable	Mean	SD
Non-immigrants		
K10 Scores	15.64	4.03
Life satisfaction	7.86	1.39
Income (\$)	63472.66	50167.06
Age	40.63	10.55
Immigrants		
K10 Scores	15.93	4.34
Life satisfaction	7.70	1.41
Income (\$)	62609.20	87328.56
Age	42.95	9.71

Variable	Frequency	Proportions
Overqualification		
Qualified	2,448,376	0.65
Marginally overqualified	925,836	0.25
Overqualified	397,868	0.11
Immigration status		
Non-immigrant	769,867	0.20
Immigrant	3,002,213	0.80
Sex		
Male	1,733,507	0.46
Female	2,038,574	0.54
Marital Status		
Married	2,156,996	0.57
Divorced, Separated, Widowed	199,891	0.05
Common law	557,632	0.15
Single	857,561	0.23
Visible Minority		
Non-minority	3,045,166	0.81
Visible minority	659,874	0.18
Indigenous	67,040	0.02
Presence of Children		
No	2,999,594	0.80
Yes	772,487	0.21
International Education		
No	3,219,810	0.85
Yes	552,270	0.15
Region of Birth		
North America	3,033,111	0.80
Africa	77,775	0.02
Asia	405,251	0.11
Europe	255,944	0.07

 Table A3 Weighted Frequency and Proportions for Categorical Variables (Overall Sample)

Variable	Frequency	Proportions
Overqualification		
Qualified	2,006,576	0.67
Marginally overqualified	730,513	0.24
Overqualified	265,124	0.09
Sex		
Male	1.342.539	0.45
Female	1.659.675	0.55
	_),	
Marital Status		
Married	1,543,144	0.51
Divorced, Separated, Widowed	176,331	0.06
Common law	503,729	0.17
Single	779,010	0.26
Visible Minority		
Non-minority	2 766 982	0.92
Visible minority	168,192	0.06
Indigenous	67,040	0.02
-		
Presence of Children		
No	2,429,003	0.81
Yes	573,211	0.19
International Education		
Νο	2,860,552	0.95
Yes	141,661	0.05
Pagion of Rirth		
North Amorica	2 808 865	0.97
Africa	2,030,003 25 957	0.97
Δείο	20,007	0.01
Furope	37 188	0.01
	57,100	0.01

Table A4 Weighted Frequency and Proportions for Categorical Variables (Non-immigrants)

Variable	Frequency	Proportions
Overgualification	- 1 7	
Qualified	441,800	0.57
Marginally overgualified	195,324	0.25
Overgualified	132,744	0.17
•		
Sex		
Male	390,968	0.51
Female	378,900	0.49
Marital Status		
Married	613,853	0.80
Divorced, Separated, Widowed	23,560	0.03
Common law	53,903	0.07
Single	78,551	0.10
Visible Minority		
Non-minority	278,185	0.36
Visible minority	491,682	0.64
Presence of Children		
No	570,591	0.74
Yes	199,277	0.26
International Education		
No	359,258	0.47
Yes	410,609	0.53
Region of Birth		
North America	134,245	0.17
Africa	51,918	0.07
Asia	364,948	0.4/
Europe	218,756	0.28
	207 450	0.52
Economic	397,450	0.52
Kerugee	14,127	0.02
ranniy reunnication Moyod in shildhood	137,400 140,672	0.20
Othor	140,072 12,467	0.10
Oulei	12,407	0.02
Immigration Poconcy		
Established	512 /00	0.67
Recent	254 820	0.07
NECEIIL	204,020	0.00

Table A5 Weighted Frequency and Proportions for Categorical Variables (Immigrants)

Appendix B: Inferential Statistics

Table B1 K10 Linear mixed model with three-way interaction (Model A)

		Std.			
Predictors	Coef.	Err.	z	р	95% CI
Overqualification (ref: qualified)				•	
Marginal overqualification	0.29	0.32	0.91	0.37	-0.33, 0.90
Overqualification	-0.26	0.37	-0.71	0.48	-0.99, 0.46
Immigration status (ref: non-immigrants)	0.30	0.50	0.61	0.54	-0.67, 1.27
Sex (ref: female)	-0.38	0.17	-2.28	0.02	-0.71, -0.05
Age category (ref: 58 to 67)					
18 to 27	0.84	0.46	1.81	0.07	-0.07, 1.74
28 to 37	0.51	0.29	1.75	0.08	-0.06, 1.07
38 to 47	0.57	0.26	2.24	0.03	0.07, 1.08
48 to 57	0.14	0.24	0.58	0.56	-0.33, 0.61
Marital status (ref: married)					
Separated, divorced, or widowed	1.00	0.31	3.19	0.00	0.38, 1.61
Common law partner	0.56	0.22	2.57	0.01	0.13, 0.99
Single	0.30	0.26	1.16	0.25	-0.20, 0.80
SES (ref: upper-middle)					
Low	0.84	0.26	3.29	0.00	0.34, 1.35
Low-mid	0.52	0.22	2.31	0.02	0.08, 0.96
Mid	0.19	0.20	0.94	0.35	-0.20, 0.58
High	-0.54	0.23	-2.35	0.02	-0.99, -0.09
Visible minority (ref: non-vis minority)					
Visible minority	0.58	0.50	1.16	0.25	-0.40, 1.57
Indigenous	1.84	0.76	2.44	0.02	0.36, 3.33
Presence of children	0.01	0.22	0.04	0.97	-0.43, 0.45
International education	-0.48	0.27	-1.75	0.08	-1.01, 0.06
Region of birth (ref: North America)					
Africa	0.27	0.75	0.36	0.72	-1.20, 1.75
Asia	-0.17	0.64	-0.26	0.79	-1.42, 1.08
Europe	0.03	0.46	0.07	0.95	-0.87, 0.93
Latin America & the Caribbeans	-0.52	0.86	-0.60	0.55	-2.21, 1.18
Time	0.20	0.09	2.22	0.03	0.02, 0.38
Overqualification*time					
Marginal overqualification	0.01	0.21	0.05	0.96	-0.40, 0.42
Overqualification	0.74	0.29	2.52	0.01	0.16, 1.32
Immigration Status*time					
Immigrant	-0.16	0.24	-0.65	0.52	-0.64, 0.32
Table B1 Continued

		Std.			
Predictors	Coef.	Err.	Z	р	95% CI
Overqualification*Immigration status					
Marginal OQ & immigrants	0.77	0.61	1.25	0.21	-0.43, 1.96
Overqualified & immigrants	0.70	0.88	0.79	0.43	-1.04, 2.43
Overqualification*Immigration status*Time					
Marginal Overqualification & immigrants	-0.43	0.45	-0.94	0.35	-1.31, 0.46
Overqualification & immigrants	-0.30	0.65	-0.45	0.65	-1.57, 0.98
Intercept	14.44	0.27	52.89	0.00	13.90, 14.97

 Table B2
 Stratified Analysis with Overqualified Sub-sample (Model B)

		Std.			
Predictors	Coef.	Err.	z	р	95% CI
Immigration recency	-0.82	0.41	-2.01	0.04	-1.62, -0.02
Sex (ref: female)	0.14	0.17	0.85	0.39	-0.18, 0.47
Age category (ref: 58 to 67)	0.50	0.44	4.24	0.00	0.00 4.00
18 to 27	0.50	0.41	1.24	0.22	-0.29, 1.30
28 to 37	0.25	0.30	0.82	0.41	-0.35, 0.84
38 t0 47	0.48	0.28	1.08	0.09	-0.08, 1.04
48 (0 57	0.43	0.22	1.89	0.06	-0.01, 0.87
Marital status (ref: married)					
Separated, divorced, or widowed	-0.29	0.22	-1.31	0.19	-0.73, 0.15
Common law partner	-0.17	0.28	-0.60	0.55	-0.72, 0.38
Single	-0.22	0.33	-0.68	0.50	-0.86, 0.42
SES (ref: upper-middle)	0.44	0.07	4 5 6	0.40	0.02.0.11
LOW	-0.41	0.27	-1.56	0.12	-0.93, 0.11
LOW-MIQ	-0.42	0.25	-1.07	0.10	-0.92, 0.07
IVIU Llich	0.12	0.20	0.47	0.04	-0.39, 0.64
півц	-0.04	0.28	-0.15	0.88	-0.60, 0.51
Visible minority	0.15	0.59	0.25	0.80	-1.01, 1.32
Indigenous	0.28	0.83	0.34	0.73	-1.34, 1.91
Presence of children	-0.05	0.24	-0.22	0.82	-0.52, 0.41
International education	0.81	0.38	2.11	0.04	0.06, 1.56
Region of birth (ref: North America)					0.07.4.60
Africa	-0.22	0.94	-0.23	0.82	-2.07, 1.63
Asia	-0.62	0.66	-0.94	0.35	-1.92, 0.68
Europe	-0.10	0.36	-0.27	0.79	-0.81, 0.61
Latin America & the Caribbeans	-1.11	0.73	-1.53	0.13	-2.53, 0.31
Time	-0.10	0.10	-1.06	0.29	-0.29, 0.09
	0.20	0.20	2.00	0.20	0.20) 0.000
Immigration Status*time					
Immigrant	0.45	0.22	2.04	0.04	0.02, 0.88
Intercept	7.80	0.33	23.63	0.00	7.15, 8.45

 Table B3 K10 Linear mixed model for immigration recency with three way interaction (Model C)

Predictor	Coef.	Std. Err.	z	р	95% CI
Overqualification (ref: qualified)				-	
Marginal overqualification	1.13	0.71	1.59	0.11	-0.26, 2.51
Overqualification	1.16	1.11	1.05	0.30	-1.02, 3.34
Immigration recency	0.07	0.73	0.10	0.92	-1.36, 1.51
Sex (ref: female)	-0.59	0.35	-1.67	0.10	-1.28, 0.10
Are category (ref: 58 to 67)					
18 to 27	0.06	1 33	0.04	0 97	-2 54 2 66
28 to 37	-0.46	0.79	-0.59	0.57	-2 01 1 09
38 to 47	0.38	0.63	0.60	0.55	-0.85, 1.60
48 to 57	-0.61	0.55	-1.11	0.27	-1.69, 0.47
Marital status (rof: married)					
Separated divorced or widowed	0 37	0.73	0 50	0.61	-1 06 1 80
Common law partner	-0.02	0.73	-0.03	0.91	-1 42 1 39
Single	-0.06	0.66	-0.09	0.50	-1 35 1 23
Single	-0.00	0.00	-0.09	0.95	-1.55, 1.25
SES (ref: upper-middle)					
Low	0.87	0.57	1.53	0.13	-0.24, 1.98
Low-mid	0.52	0.50	1.03	0.30	-0.47, 1.50
Mid	0.62	0.48	1.29	0.20	-0.32, 1.55
High	-0.59	0.74	-0.79	0.43	-2.05, 0.87
Visible minority	1.32	1.38	0.96	0.34	-1.38, 4.01
Presence of children	0.00	0.51	0.01	0.99	-0.99, 1.00
International education	-0.64	0.38	-1.66	0.10	-1.39, 0.11
Region of birth (ref: North America)					
Africa	0.40	1.60	0.25	0.80	-2.73, 3.53
Asia	-0.61	1.63	-0.37	0.71	-3.79, 2.58
Europe	0.27	0.84	0.32	0.75	-1.37, 1.91
Latin America & the Caribbeans	-0.67	1.78	-0.38	0.71	-4.15, 2.81
Time	0.01	0.26	0.03	0.98	-0.51, 0.52
Overqualification*time	c		0.00		
Marginal overqualification	-0.27	0.44	-0.62	0.54	-1.14, 0.59
Overqualification	0.48	0.82	0.59	0.56	-1.13, 2.10
Immigration Recency*time	0.02	0.45	0.04	0.97	-0.86, 0.90
Overqualification*Immigration Recency					
Marginal OQ & recent immigrants	-0.26	1.06	-0.25	0.80	-2.34, 1.81
Overqualified & recent immigrants	-1.20	1.62	-0.74	0.46	-4.37, 1.97
Overqualification*Immigration Recency*Time					
Marginal $\Omega\Omega$ & recent immigrants	-0.28	0.81	-0 34	0 73	-1 87 1 31
Overqualified & recent immigrants	-0.23	1.14	-0.20	0.84	-2.46, 2.00
had a second s	45.40	0.00	45.00	0.00	
intercept	15.10	0.99	15.20	0.00	13.15, 17.04

Predictors	Coef.	Std. Err.	z	р	95% CI
Overqualification (ref: qualified)				•	
Marginal overqualification	1.24	0.68	1.84	0.07	-0.08, 2.56
Overqualification	1.25	0.91	1.37	0.17	-0.08, 3.04
Immigration recency	0.21	0.69	0.30	0.76	-1.14, 1.56
Sex (ref: female)	-0.59	0.35	-1.68	0.09	-1.28, 0.10
Age category (ref: 58 to 67)					
18 to 27	0.06	1.33	0.05	0.96	-2.55, 2.67
28 to 37	-0.46	0.79	-0.59	0.56	-2.00, 1.08
38 to 47	0.37	0.63	0.60	0.55	-0.85, 1.60
48 to 57	-0.61	0.55	-1.11	0.27	-1.69, 0.47
Marital status (ref: married)	0.07	0.70	0.54		4 96 4 99
Separated, divorced, or widowed	0.37	0.73	0.51	0.61	-1.06, 1.80
Common law partner	-0.03	0.71	-0.05	0.96	-1.43, 1.36
Single	-0.07	0.66	-0.11	0.92	-1.36, 1.22
SES (ref: upper_middle)					
	0.87	0.57	1 5 2	0 1 2	_0.25 1.08
Low-mid	0.57	0.57	1.52	0.15	-0.25, 1.50
Mid	0.52	0.30	1.05	0.25	-0.43, 1.56
High	-0.58	0.40	-0.78	0.20	-2.05.0.88
	0.50	0.75	0.70	0.45	2.05, 0.00
Visible minority	1.32	1.38	0.96	0.34	-1.38, 4.01
Presence of children	0.00	0.51	0.00	1.00	-0.99, 0.99
International education	-0.64	0.38	-1.67	0.10	-1.39, 0.11
Region of birth (ref: North America)					
Africa	0.40	1.60	0.25	0.81	-2.74, 3.53
Asia	-0.60	1.62	-0.37	0.71	-3.79, 2.58
Europe	0.27	0.84	0.32	0.75	-1.37, 1.91
Latin America & the Caribbeans	-0.67	1.77	-0.38	0.70	-4.14, 2.79
Time	0.05	0.25	0.19	0.85	-0.45, 0.54
Overqualification*time	0.20	0.20	0.00	0.22	1 1 4 0 20
	-0.38	0.39	-0.98	0.33	-1.14, 0.38
Overquanitation	0.40	0.57	0.69	0.49	-0.72, 1.52
Immigration Recency*time	-0.11	0 35	-0 21	0.75	-0.80.058
initial action recency time	-0.11	0.55	-0.51	0.75	-0.00, 0.30
Overqualification*Immigration Recency					
Marginal OQ & recent immigrants	-0.57	0.72	-0.80	0.43	-1.98, 0.84
Overqualified & recent immigrants	-1.44	1.09	-1.32	0.19	-3.57, 0.70
Intercept	15.06	0.99	15.19	0.00	13.12, 17.00

Table B4 Linear Mixed Model for Immigration Recency with Three-Way Interaction Removed (Model C)

 Table B5
 Linear Mixed Model for Immigration Category with Three-way Interaction (Model D)

		Std.			
Predictor	Coef.	Err.	z	р	95% CI
Overqualification (ref: qualified)					
Marginal overqualification	0.50	0.79	0.63	0.53	-1.05, 2.04
Overqualification	0.25	1.23	0.21	0.84	-2.15, 2.66
Immigration Category (ref: economic)					
Refugee	6.02	4.09	1.47	0.14	-1.99, 14.04
Family	-0.64	0.77	-0.84	0.40	-2.14, 0.86
Moved in childhood	0.35	0.87	0.40	0.69	-1.35, 2.05
Sex (ref: female)	-0.50	0.37	-1.38	0.17	-1.22, 0.21
Age category (ref: 58 to 67)	0.45	4 22	0.24	0.72	2.05.2.44
18 to 27	-0.45	1.32	-0.34	0.73	-3.05, 2.14
28 to 37	-0.69	0.76	-0.91	0.36	-2.18, 0.80
38 to 47	0.19	0.60	0.31	0.76	-0.99, 1.36
48 to 57	-0.60	0.54	-1.12	0.26	-1.66, 0.45
Marital status (ref: married)					
Separated, divorced, or widowed	0.34	0.70	0.49	0.63	-1.03, 1.71
Common law partner	-0.12	0.68	-0.17	0.86	-1.45, 1.22
Single	0.10	0.67	0.15	0.88	-1.22, 1.42
-					
SES (ref: upper-middle)					
Low	0.79	0.58	1.37	0.17	-0.34, 1.92
Low-mid	0.61	0.52	1.18	0.24	-0.40, 1.63
Mid	0.59	0.48	1.23	0.22	-0.35, 1.54
High	-0.54	0.74	-0.73	0.47	-1.99, 0.91
Visible minority	1 1 7	1 20	0.00	0.27	1 20 2 72
Visible minority Processe of children	1.17	1.30	0.90	0.37	-1.38, 3.73
Internetional education	0.05	0.50	1.09	0.95	-0.95, 1.02
International education	-0.63	0.39	-1.03	0.10	-1.39, 0.13
Region of birth (ref: North America)					
Africa	0.46	1.44	0.32	0.75	-2.37, 3.29
Asia	-0.53	1.46	-0.36	0.72	-3.39, 2.34
Europe	0.29	0.82	0.36	0.72	-1.31, 1.90
Latin America & the Caribbeans	-0.67	1.61	-0.41	0.68	-3.83, 2.50
Time	-0.12	0.27	-0.43	0.67	-0.66, 0.42
Overqualification*time					
Marginal overqualification	-0.51	0.57	-0.90	0.37	-1.63, 0.60
Overqualification	0.44	0.64	0.69	0.49	-0.82, 1.71
Immigration astagon. * time					
Immigration category "time	2.07	1 57	1 0 2	0.07	
	-2.8/	1.57	-1.03 1.22	0.07	-5.94, 0.20
raiiiiy Mayad in childhaad	0.70	0.57	1.23	1.00	-U.41, 1.81 1 12 1 14
	0.00	0.58	0.00	1.00	-1.13, 1.14

Table B5 Continued

		Std.			
Predictors	Coef.	Err.	Z	р	95%CI
Overqualification*Immigration category					
MOQ & Refugee	-2.53	4.50	-0.56	0.57	-11.36, 6.30
MOQ & Family	1.43	1.28	1.12	0.27	-1.08, 3.94
MOQ & Moved when child	0.33	1.21	0.28	0.78	-2.04, 2.70
OQ & Refugee	-7.06	5.05	-1.40	0.16	-16.96, 2.84
OQ & Family	2.43	1.85	1.31	0.19	-1.20, 6.06
OQ & Moved when child	-0.42	1.66	-0.25	0.80	-3.67, 2.83
Overqualification*Immigration category*Time					
MOQ & Refugee	2.00	2.17	0.92	0.36	-2.26, 6.26
MOQ & Family	0.20	0.98	0.21	0.84	-1.71, 2.12
MOQ & Moved when child	0.22	0.94	0.23	0.82	-1.63, 2.06
OQ & Refugee	6.13	3.21	1.91	0.06	-0.17, 12.43
OQ & Family	-1.52	1.25	-1.21	0.22	-3.98, 0.93
OQ & Moved when child	-0.34	0.93	-0.37	0.71	-2.17, 1.48
Intercept	15.26	1.03	14.84	0.00	13.25, 17.28

Predictors	Estimate	Std. Err.	z	р	95% CI
Marginal overqualification					
Immigration Category					
Economic	-0.06	0.49	-0.12	0.91	-1.03, 0.91
Refugee	0.20	3.08	0.07	0.95	-5.83, 6.23
Family	1.65	0.67	2.46	0.01	0.33, 2.97
Moved when child	0.49	0.87	0.57	0.57	-1.21, 2.20
Overqualification					
Immigration Category					
Economic	0.75	0.95	0.79	0.43	-1.12, 2.62
Refugee	0.88	2.21	0.40	0.69	-3.46, 5.21
Family	1.69	0.89	1.89	0.06	-0.06, 3.44
Moved when child	-0.09	0.91	-0.10	0.92	-1.87, 1.68

Table B6 Analysis of Simple Effects (Model D)

Table B7 Analysis of Simple Effects 2 (Model D)

Predictors	Estimate	Std. Err.	z	р	95% CI
Refugees					
Overqualification					
Qualified	1.77	2.67	0.66	0.51	-3.46, 7.01
Marginally Overqualified	2.03	1.07	1.90	0.06	-0.07, 4.13
Overqualified	1.90	1.81	1.04	0.30	-1.66, 5.45
Family Reunification					
Overqualification					
Qualified	0.09	0.53	0.17	0.87	-0.95, 1.13
Marginally Overqualified	1.80	0.76	2.36	0.02	0.30, 3.29
Overqualified	1.02	1.20	0.85	0.39	-1.33, 3.38
Moved in Childhood					
overqualification					
Qualified	0.35	0.70	0.50	0.62	-1.02, 1.72
Marginally Overqualified	0.90	0.70	1.29	0.20	-0.47, 2.28

	r				
Predictors	Coef.	Std. Err.	Z	р	95% CI
Overqualification (ref: qualified)					
Marginal overqualification	-0.08	0.22	-0.36	0.72	-0.51, 0.35
Overqualification	-0.78	0.47	-1.66	0.10	-1.70, 0.14
Immigration recency	0.38	0.26	1.48	0.14	-0.12, 0.88
Sex (ref: female)	-0.16	0.12	-1.31	0.19	-0.39, 0.08
Age category (ref: 58 to 67)		•			
18 to 27	0.60	0 34	1 76	0.08	-0 07 1 27
28 to 27	0.00	0.22	2 10	0.04	
28 to 37	0.40	0.22	2.10	0.04	
30 t0 47	0.51	0.19	1.57	0.12	-0.08, 0.09
48 to 57	0.17	0.16	1.10	0.27	-0.13, 0.48
Manital status (notionanical)					
Marital status (ref: married)	0.55	0.24	4 77	0.00	1 1 0 0 0 0
Separated, divorced, or widowed	-0.55	0.31	-1.//	0.08	-1.16, 0.06
Common law partner	-0.05	0.28	-0.16	0.87	-0.60, 0.50
Single	-0.56	0.21	-2.61	0.01	-0.97, -0.14
SES (ref: upper-middle)		0.46			
Low	-0.28	0.19	-1.49	0.14	-0.66, 0.09
Low-mid	-0.12	0.16	-0.72	0.47	-0.44, 0.20
Mid	-0.19	0.18	-1.07	0.28	-0.55, 0.16
High	0.25	0.22	1.11	0.27	-0.19, 0.68
Visible minority	-0.18	0.37	-0.49	0.62	-0.90, 0.54
Presence of children	-0.20	0.18	-1.11	0.27	-0.55, 0.15
International education	0.08	0.15	0.52	0.60	-0.21, 0.36
Region of birth (ref: North America)					
Africa	-0.42	0.41	-1.01	0.31	-1.22, 0.39
Asia	-0.51	0.43	-1.18	0.24	-1.36, 0.34
Europe	-0.41	0.24	-1.71	0.09	-0.89, 0.06
Latin America & the Caribbeans	-0.21	0.49	-0.42	0.68	-1.17.0.76
					,
Time	0.07	0.08	0.90	0.37	-0.08. 0.22
-					, -
Overqualification*time					
Marginal overgualification	0.16	0.15	1.05	0.29	-0.13.0.45
Overgualification	0.10	0.10	1.05	0.25	0.00 1 16
Overquanication	0.58	0.30	1.50	0.05	0.00, 1.10
Immigration Reconcu*time	-0.28	0.14	_1 02	0.05	-0.56,0.00
iningration recency time	-0.20	0.14	-1.90	0.05	-0.30, 0.00
Overqualification*Immigration Recency					
Marginal OO & recent immigrants	0.22	0.20	0.04	0.40	
	-0.52	0.58	-0.04	0.40	-1.05, 0.42
overquaimed & recent immigrants	0.42	0.59	0.71	0.48	-0.74, 1.58
Quernuelification*Immigration Descret* Time					
	0.45	0.20	0.57	0.57	0.00.0.05
iviarginal UQ & recent immigrants	0.15	0.26	0.57	0.5/	-0.36, 0.65
Overqualified & recent immigrants	-0.38	0.43	-0.89	0.37	-1.23, 0.46
Intercept	8.29	0.27	31.01	0.00	7.76.8.81

Table B8 Linear Mixed Model for Immigration Recency with Three-Way Interaction (Model E)

Table B9 Analysis of Simple Slopes (Model E)

	Estimate	Std. Err.	z	р	95% CI
Time					
Immigration Recency					
Established	0.20	0.07	2.89	0.00	0.07, 0.34
Recent	-0.09	0.10	-0.96	0.34	-0.29, 0.10

Table B10 Analysis of Simples Effects (Model E)

	Estimate	Std. Err.	z	р	95% CI
Immigration recency, at wave					
0	0.36	0.22	1.65	0.10	-0.07, 0.79
1	0.07	0.16	0.42	0.68	-0.24, 0.37
2	-0.23	0.17	-1.33	0.18	-0.57, 0.11

Table B11 Linear Mixed Model with Immigration Category (Model F)

		Std.			
Predictors	Coef	Frr	7	n	95% CI
Overqualification (ref: qualified)	cocn	E	-	۲	5576 61
Marginal overgualification	-0.30	0.27	-1.10	0.27	-0.84, 0.23
Overgualification	-0.66	0.51	-1 29	0.20	-1 66 0 34
	0.00	0.51	1.25	0.20	1.00, 0.01
Immigration category (ref: economic)					
Refugee	-0.87	1.04	-0.84	0.40	-2.90. 1.16
Family	-0.16	0.24	-0.68	0.50	-0.62. 0.30
Moved in childhood	0.09	0.28	0.31	0.76	-0.46, 0.64
	0.00	0.20	0.01	017 0	0
Sex (ref: female)	-0.19	0.12	-1.60	0.11	-0.43, 0.04
	0.20	0.22	2.00	0.22	01.0, 0101
Age Category (ref: 58 to 67)					
18 to 27	0.48	0.35	1.40	0.16	-0.20, 1.16
28 to 37	0.41	0.22	1.84	0.07	-0.03, 0.85
38 to 47	0.23	0.18	1.29	0.20	-0.12, 0.59
48 to 57	0.03	0.16	0.18	0.86	-0.28, 0.34
Marital status (ref: married)					
Separated divorced or widowed	-0.67	0 32	-2 12	0.03	-1 29 -0 05
Common law partner	0.04	0.26	0.17	0.87	-0.47, 0.56
Single	-0.56	0.20	-2 57	0.01	-0.98 -0.13
Single	0.50	0.22	2.57	0.01	0.50, 0.15
SES (ref: upper-middle)					
	-0 33	0 19	-1 72	0.09	-0 70 0 05
Low-mid	-0.18	0.17	-1.06	0.00	-0.52 0.15
Mid	-0.20	0.18	-1.00	0.25	-0.55, 0.16
High	0.20	0.10	0.75	0.20	-0.27, 0.60
	0.17	0.22	0.75	0.40	0.27, 0.00
Visible minority (ref: non-vis minority)	-0.19	0 35	-0 54	0 59	-0.87 0.49
Presence of children	-0.19	0.55	-1 08	0.35	-0.54 0.15
International education	0.10	0.10	0.69	0.20	-0.18 0.38
	0.10	0.14	0.05	0.45	0.10, 0.50
Region of birth (ref: North America)					
Africa	-0.39	0.37	-1.05	0.29	-1.11.0.33
Asia	-0.54	0.40	-1.37	0.17	-1.32, 0.24
Europe	-0.41	0.25	-1.67	0.10	-0.89. 0.07
Latin America & the Caribbeans	-0.24	0.45	-0.53	0.60	-1.13, 0.65
		0.10	0.00	0.00	, 0.00
Time	-0.02	0.08	-0.26	0 79	-0 18 0 14
	0.02	0.00	0.20	0.75	0.10, 0.14
Overqualification*Time					
Marginal overqualification	0.26	0.18	1.43	0.15	-0.10.0.61
Overgualification	0.38	0.25	1.52	0.13	-0.11. 0.87
	0.00	0.20		0.20	s. <u></u> , s.o,
Immigration category*Time					
Refugee	0.28	0.44	0.64	0.52	-0.58. 1.15
Family	0.03	0.15	0.19	0.85	-0.27. 0.33
					,

Table B11 Continued

		Std.			
Predictors	Coef.	Err.	z	р	95% CI
Moved in childhood	0.02	0.16	0.12	0.91	-0.29, 0.33
Overqualification*Immigration Category					
MOQ & Refugee	1.63	1.12	1.46	0.14	-0.55, 3.82
MOQ & Family	0.86	0.48	1.80	0.07	-0.07, 1.80
MOQ & Moved when child	-0.36	0.44	-0.81	0.42	-1.23, 0.51
OQ & Refugee	0.48	1.05	0.46	0.65	-1.58, 2.54
OQ & Family	-0.01	0.68	-0.02	0.99	-1.34, 1.32
OQ & Moved when child	0.98	0.69	1.42	0.16	-0.38, 2.34
Overqualification*Immigration*Time					
MOQ & Refugee	-0.85	0.55	-1.56	0.12	-1.93, 0.22
MOQ & Family	-0.39	0.30	-1.30	0.19	-0.97, 0.19
MOQ & Moved when child	0.10	0.32	0.30	0.77	-0.54 <i>,</i> 0.73
OQ & Refugee	-0.87	0.76	-1.14	0.25	-2.37, 0.63
OQ & Family	0.83	0.48	1.71	0.09	-0.12, 1.78
OQ & Moved when child	-0.93	0.37	-2.53	0.01	-1.65, -0.21
Intercept	8.55	0.31	27.89	0.00	7.95, 9.15

Table B12 Linear Mixed Model for Overc	qualified Sub-Sample	(Model F)
--	----------------------	-----------

Predictors	Coef.	Std. Err.	z	Р	95% CI
Immigration category (reF: economic)	Ì				
Refugee	-0.65	0.92	-0.71	0.48	-2.45, 1.15
Family	0.03	0.55	0.05	0.96	-1.04, 1.10
Moved in childhood	1.14	0.57	2.01	0.04	0.03, 2.25
Sex (ref: female)	0.12	0.31	0.39	0.70	-0.48, 0.72
Age Category (ref: 58 to 67)					
18 to 27	-0.33	1.05	-0.32	0.75	-2.38, 1.72
28 to 37	-0.53	0.74	-0.71	0.48	-1.98, 0.93
38 to 47	0.46	0.56	0.83	0.41	-0.63, 1.55
48 to 57	0.54	0.40	1.32	0.19	-0.26, 1.33
Marital status (ref: married)					
Separated, divorced, or widowed	-1.07	0.69	-1.54	0.12	-2.42, 0.29
Common law partner	-1.77	1.09	-1.62	0.10	-3.91, 0.37
Single	0.75	0.73	1.03	0.30	-0.67, 2.17
SES (ref: upper-middle)					
Low	-1.23	0.65	-1.87	0.06	-2.51, 0.06
Low-mid	-1.67	0.71	-2.34	0.02	-3.07, -0.27
Mid	-0.61	0.92	-0.66	0.51	-2.42, 1.20
High	-0.85	0.86	-0.99	0.32	-2.53, 0.83
Visible minority (ref: non-vis minority)	-0.56	1.48	-0.38	0.70	-3.46, 2.34
Presence of children	0.42	0.60	0.70	0.48	-0.76, 1.61
International education	1.14	0.57	2.01	0.04	0.03, 2.26
Region of birth (ref: North America)					
Africa	1.90	1.91	0.99	0.32	-1.85, 5.64
Asia	0.74	1.68	0.44	0.66	-2.55, 4.02
Europe	1.06	0.76	1.39	0.17	-0.44, 2.56
Latin America & the Caribbeans	0.79	1.86	0.42	0.67	-2.85, 4.43
Time	0.30	0.28	1.06	0.29	-0.25, 0.85
Immigration category*Time					
Refugee	-0.41	0.80	-0.52	0.61	-1.97, 1.15
Family	0.80	0.44	1.84	0.07	-0.05, 1.66
Moved in childhood	-0.87	0.44	-1.99	0.05	-1.73, -0.01
Intercept	6.82	1 30	5 25	0.00	4 27 9 37

	Estimate	Std. Err.	Z	Р	95% CI
Time					
Immigration Category					
Economic	0.30	0.28	1.06	0.29	-0.25, 0.85
Refugee	-0.11	0.74	-0.15	0.88	-1.56, 1.33
Family	1.10	0.32	3.50	0.00	0.49, 1.72
Moved when child	-0.57	0.34	-1.71	0.09	-1.23, 0.08

Table B13 Analysis of Simple Slopes for Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)

Table B14 Analysis of Simple Slopes 2 for Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)

	Estimate	Std. Err.	Z	Р	95% CI
Time					
Immigration Category					
Refugee vs Economic	-0.41	0.80	-0.52	0.61	-1.97, 1.15
Family vs Economic	0.80	0.44	1.84	0.07	-0.05, 1.66
Moved when child vs Economic	-0.87	0.44	-1.99	0.05	-1.73, -0.01
Family vs Refugee	1.22	0.82	1.49	0.14	-0.39, 2.82
Moved when child vs Refugee	-0.46	0.80	-0.58	0.56	-2.03, 1.10
Moved when child vs Family	-1.68	0.46	-3.62	0.00	-2.58, -0.77

Table B15 Analysis of Simple Effects for Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)

	Estimate	Std. Err.	Z	Р	95% CI
Refugees					
at					
1	-0.65	0.92	-0.71	0.48	-2.45, 1.15
2	-1.06	0.59	-1.80	0.07	-2.22, 0.10
3	-1.47	1.06	-1.39	0.17	-3.55, 0.60
Family Reunification					
at					
1	0.03	0.55	0.05	0.96	-1.04, 1.10
2	0.83	0.45	1.86	0.06	-0.04, 1.71
3	1.64	0.70	2.36	0.02	0.28, 3.00
Moved when child					
at					
1	1.14	0.57	2.01	0.04	0.03, 2.25
2	0.27	0.48	0.55	0.58	-0.68, 1.21
3	-0.61	0.73	-0.83	0.41	-2.04, 0.82

Predictors	Coef.	Std. Err.	Z	Р	95% CI
Immigration category (ref:					
economic)					
Refugee	0.68	0.45	1.52	0.13	-0.20, 1.56
Family	0.73	0.41	1 77	0.08	-0.08 1.53
Moved in childhood	-0.14	0.43	-0.32	0.75	-0.98 0.71
	0.14	0.45	0.52	0.75	0.50, 0.71
Sex (ref: female)	-0.26	0.21	-1.23	0.22	-0.68, 0.16
Age Category (ref: 58 to 67)					
18 to 27	0.91	0.57	1.61	0.11	-0.20, 2.03
28 to 37	0.69	0.33	2.13	0.03	0.05, 1.33
38 to 47	0.44	0.29	1.49	0.14	-0.14. 1.01
48 to 57	-0.08	0.31	-0.26	0.80	-0.68. 0.53
	0.00	0.01	0.20	0.00	0.00, 0.00
Marital status (ref: married)					
Separated, divorced, or widowed	-0.58	0.53	-1.09	0.28	-1.61, 0.46
Common law partner	0.22	0.54	0.41	0.68	-0.84, 1.28
Single	-1.03	0.33	-3.15	0.00	-1.67, -0.39
5					
SES (ref: upper-middle)					
Low	-0.87	0.41	-2.15	0.03	-1.67, -0.08
Low-mid	-0.45	0.35	-1.29	0.20	-1.14, 0.24
Mid	-0.56	0.35	-1.57	0.12	-1.25, 0.14
High	-0.15	0.52	-0.30	0.77	-1.17, 0.86
Visible minority (ref: non-vis					
minority)	-0.53	0.46	-1.16	0.24	-1.43, 0.36
Presence of children	-0.10	0.23	-0.43	0.66	-0.55, 0.35
International education	-0.05	0.22	-0.24	0.81	-0.49, 0.38
Region of birth (ref: North					
America)					
Africa	-1.51	0.69	-2.20	0.03	-2.850.16
Asia	-1.02	0.72	-1.41	0.16	-2.43.0.40
Furope	-1.43	0.53	-2.68	0.01	-2.470.38
Latin America & the Caribbeans	-1 13	0.71	-1 59	0.11	-2 53 0 26
	1.10	0.71	1.00	0.11	2.33, 0.20
Time	0.24	0.16	1.52	0.13	-0.07, 0.56
Immigration category*Time					
Retugee	-0.55	0.38	-1.44	0.15	-1.29, 0.20
Family	-0.32	0.25	-1.25	0.21	-0.82, 0.18
Moved in childhood	-0.05	0.28	-0.18	0.86	-0.60, 0.50
Intercent	0.49	0.70	10 51	0.00	0 10 10 05
intercept	9.48	0.70	13.21	0.00	0.10, 10.85

 Table B16 Linear Mixed Model for Marginally Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)

Predictors Coef. Std. Err. z Ρ 95% CI Immigration category (ref: economic) Refugee -0.67 1.02 -0.66 0.51 -2.67, 1.32 Family -0.33 0.25 -1.30 -0.82, 0.17 0.19 Moved in childhood 0.03 0.29 0.11 0.92 -0.54, 0.60 Sex (ref: female) -0.13 0.17 -0.75 0.46 -0.46, 0.21 Age Category (ref: 58 to 67) 18 to 27 0.27 0.41 0.66 0.51 -0.54, 1.09 28 to 37 0.38 0.27 1.39 0.17 -0.16, 0.92 38 to 47 0.23 -0.06 0.95 -0.46, 0.44 -0.01 48 to 57 -0.09 0.18 -0.49 0.63 -0.45, 0.27 Marital status (ref: married) Separated, divorced, or widowed -0.38 0.31 -1.21 0.23 -0.99, 0.23 0.29 Common law partner 0.24 0.82 0.41 -0.34, 0.82 Single -0.56 0.27 -2.08 0.04 -1.08, -0.03 SES (ref: upper-middle) -0.22 0.24 -0.92 -0.70, 0.25 Low 0.36 Low-mid -0.10 0.23 -0.42 0.67 -0.55, 0.35 Mid -0.11 0.21 -0.52 0.61 -0.53, 0.31 -0.03 0.22 0.90 High -0.13 -0.46, 0.40 Visible minority (ref: non-vis minority) -0.11 0.44 -0.25 0.80 -0.97, 0.75 Presence of children -0.30 0.26 0.25 -0.81, 0.21 -1.16 International education 0.07 0.16 0.47 0.64 -0.24, 0.38 Region of birth (ref: North America) Africa -0.08 0.38 -0.21 0.83 -0.83, 0.67 Asia -0.74 0.46 -1.62 0.10 -1.64, 0.15 Europe -0.48 0.28 -1.75 0.08 -1.03, 0.06 Latin America & the Caribbeans -0.19 0.58 -0.33 0.74 -1.33, 0.95 Time -0.03 0.08 -0.37 0.71 -0.18, 0.13 Immigration category*Time Refugee 0.15 0.39 0.40 0.69 -0.60, 0.91 Family 0.06 0.16 0.41 0.68 -0.24, 0.37 Moved in childhood 0.05 0.29 0.77 -0.28, 0.38 0.17 0.35 25.03 Intercept 8.73 0.00 8.05, 9.41

Table B17 Linear Mixed Model for Overqualified Sub-Sample (Model F)

Appendix C: Coding of Overqualification

Table C1: NOC 2011 – Skill Category Codes

Information contained in this table is taken verbatim from Statistics Canada's National Occupational Classification (NOC) 2011 webpage. Available at: https://www.statcan.gc.ca/en/subjects/standard/noc/2011/introduction

Skill Category of Occupation	Second digit of NOC code
Skill Level A	
 University degree (including Bachelor's, 	0 or 1
master's, and PhD)	
 *Senior management occupations 	00
 *Specialized middle management 	01 - 05
occupations	
Skill Level B	2 or 3
 Two to three years of post-secondary 	
education at community college, institute of	
technology or CÉGEP	
- Two to five years of apprenticeship training	
- Three to four years of secondary school and	
more than two years of on-the-job training,	
occupation-specific training courses or	
specific work experience	
 Occupations with supervisory 	
responsibilities are also assigned to skill	
level B.	
 Occupations with significant health and 	
safety responsibilities (e.g., fire fighters,	
police officers and licensed practical nurses)	
are assigned to skill level B.	
 *Middle management occupations in retail, 	
wholesale trade, and customer services.	06
 *Middle management occupations in 	
trades, transportation, production, and	
utilities	07 - 09
Skill Level C	4 or 5
 Completion of secondary school and some 	
short-duration courses or training specific to	
the occupation	
 Some secondary school education, with up 	
to two years of on-the-job training, training	
courses or specific work experience	
Skill Level D	6 or 7
 Short work demonstration or on-the-job 	
training	
 No formal educational requirements 	

* The management occupations are classified into skill categories following Lu and Hou (2020)'s procedure.

 Table C2: LISA Answer Categories for Highest Level of Attained Education

No formal education	01
Less than high school diploma	02
High school diploma or equivalent	03
Trade/vocational certificate (includes an	04
attestation of VOC)	
Apprenticeship certificate	05
CEGEP diploma or certificate	06
Non-university certificate or diploma from a	07
college, school	
University transfer program	08
University certificate or diploma below	09
bachelor's degree	
Bachelor's degree	10
University certificate above the bachelor's	11
First profession degree (medical, veterinary	12
medicine, dentistry, optometry, law, etc.)	
Master's	13
Ph.D.	14
Education not definable by level	15
Valid Skip	96
Don't know	97
Refusal	98
Not stated	99

Table C3: Classifying Education-Occupation Mismatch

LISA – Educational Level	NOC – Skill Category	Education-Occupation Status
10 – 14 (bachelor's and up)	0, 1, 00, 01, 02, 03, 04, 05	Match
10 - 14	2, 3, 06, 07, 08, 09	Marginally Overqualified
10 - 14	4, 5, 6, 7	Overqualified